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INTRODUCTION

This matter is before the court on the Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus iusg8
U.S.C. § 2254 filed by petitioner Jerome Marshall on May 22, 2Z@3ginal Petition”).: On
Decamber 29, 2005, Petitioner's Memorandum of Law in Support of Petition for a Writ of
Habeas Corpuwas filed?> On December 21, 2006, respondents fitegir Response to Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpdsand a Memorandum of LagtOriginal Commonwealth Brief’)
Petitioner's Reply Memorandum in Support of Petition for a writ of Habeas Corpuilechon
June 29, 2007 Respondents filed their Sur-Reply to Petitioner’s Reply Brief on September 27,
20078

This case was originally assigned to a judge of this Court on May 22, 203igeed
to a second judge of this Court on July 17, 2009, re-assigned to a third judge of this Court on
August 9, 2010. The undersigned was first assigned to this case bgearoOreassignment
docketed on June 8, 2017.

Because of the lengthy period of time thmervenedafter the filing of petitioner’s
Original Section 2254 Petitiothe parties lagr submitted updated briefin@n July 7, 2016, the
Petition and Memorandum of Law of Petitioner, Jerome Marshall, in Support of HisrPktr

a Writ of Habeas Corpus Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 22&#hendedPetition”) was filed’ On the

! Document 1.

2 Document 22.
3 Document 35.
4 Document 36.
5 Document 51.
6 Document 55.
7 Document 145.



same datea Memorandum of Law of Petitioner, Jerome Marshall in Support of lisgoRdor a
Writ of Habeas Corpus Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 (“Petitioner's Amended Memorahdum”)
was filed On May 22, 2017, the Commonwealth filed its Supplemental Response to Petition for
Writ of Habeas Corpus (“Supplemental Responge”).

On June 6, 2018 respondents filed a Status R€podicating that they agreed to a
conditional grant of petitioner’s writ of habeas corpus with respect to the deahcmnt
imposed for thenurders of Mydie McCoy and Karima SaundeRespondents further indicated
that after consultation with the families of the victims, they would not seek regWv slentences
upan resentencing in state cou@n June 25, 2018, respondents filed a Status Rétating
that respondents had discussed the conditional grant of petitioner’s writ of habeaswvithrpus
the victims’ families and that they now formally do not contest the conditionat gradabeas
relief concening the two death sentenc@&fat concessiohy respondenteowever, does not
resolve all the claimi this case.

On July 20, 2018, respondents filed a letter memorafktomtlining the claimsghat
remain for this court’s resolutioly. Specifically, there are 17 claintisat relate to the death

sentences imposed for the murders of Myndie McCoy and Karima Saunders that nodedger n

8 Document 146.
° Document 158.
10 Document 171.
1 Document 172.
12 Document 177.
3 The numbering of the claims presented in the Ameirtition are those utilized in respondents’

Supplemental Response. | have chosen to utilize respondents’ mugpibecause it is clear what each claim is in a
consecutive numbering ggsn versus petitioner’'s haphazard approach.
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resolution* Accordingly, based upon respondents’ concession, | grant petitioner habeas corpus
relief on those 17 claimand vacate the ddasentences for the murders of My&McCoy and
Karima Saunders. Furthermore, | direct that this case be remanded to the CounhodiC
Pleas of Philadelphia County for resentencing consistent with respondentssiond¢hat they
will not seek the deatpenalty upon resentencing.

There are 16 claimthat remain for decision by this codrtFor the reasons discussed
below, | deny the remaining portionsd@rome Marshall's habeas corpus petition.
I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. State Court Proceedings

On August 29, 1984, after a jury trial in the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia
County, petitioner was convicted thiree counts of first degree murder for theathsof Sharon
Saumlers, Karima Saunders, and MyniieKoy.'® On August 30, 1984, the jurgturneda life
sentence for the murder of Shar®aunders, ansvo death sentences for theurders of Karima
Saunders and Myie McKoy!’

Petitioner filed a direct appeaf his convictions and sentenceke was represented at
trial and on his initial direct appeal by Michael McAllister, EsquBeeMarshall | On
December 22, 1989, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania affirmed the con\aciitihe

sentence with respect to the murdersMi/ndie McKoy and Sharon Saunders, but reversed the

14 Specifically, Claims I, II, IXXII, XIV -XXII, XV and XXIX are moot based upon respondents’ concession
to a conditional grant of habeas relief. Those claims all relate to the deatttesnbtemselves ordh
circumstances surrounding the jury imposing the death sentences.

% The remaining claims that require resolution all relate to the guilt pligeditioner’s trial. They are
Claims HFVIIIL, X1, XX -XXIV, XXV -XXVIIF and XXX -XXXIII.

16 SeeAmended Petition at  Zee als€Commonwealth v. Marshalb68 A.2d 590, 593 (Pa. 1989)
(“Marshall I').
o Amended Petition at 1 8larshall | 568 A.2d at 593.
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death sentence for Karima Saunders based on its determination that the jury hadliynprope
found an aggravating factor that did not apfgeid.

Specifically, the jury had found that Karima “was killed for the purpose of priegent
[her] testimony against the defeamd”. 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 9711(d). The Pennsylvania Supreme
Court explained thaf[tjhere was no direct or circumstantial evidence to establish the Appellant's
intentat the time he murdered Karima. All that wagsented was that in response to Karima's
cries for her mother, Appellant killed heMarshall | 568 A.2d at 599. Based on the finding that
the jury had improperly found an aggravating circumstance which did not apply, the court
vacated the death sentence for Karima Saunders and remanded the case for a new g@malty ph
Id.

A second penalty phase occurredlaity 27, 1990 to sentence petitioner for the one death
sentencehat had been vacaté®iOn July 27, 1990, the retrial jury again sentermatitioner to
death, finding onaggravating circumstandbat outweighedwo mitigating circumstance¥.

Petitionerfiled a direct appeal dhere-sentence ofleathfor the murder of Karima
Saunders. On May 24, 1994, the Supreme Court aif@rania afirmed the sentenc&larshall

1. Petitioner was represented at the penalty phase retrial and on appeal theyeBemard L.

Siegel, EsquireSeeid.

18 Amended Petition at  8ee als€Commonwealth v. Marshab43 A.2d 1070, 1072 (Pa. 1994Marshall
7).
19 Amended Petition at I 8Jarshall 1l, 643 A.2d at 1072. The aggravating factor found by the jury was that

“[tlhe defendant has been convicted of another Federal or State offense,tedmaittier before or at the time of the
offense atssue, for which a sentence of life imprisonment or death was imposahke d@efendant was undergoing
a sentence of life imprisonment for any reason at the time of the commit#enodfense.”_Marshall ]1643 A.2d

at 1072 n.2 (citingt2 Pa.C.S.A. 711(d)(10)).

The mitigating factors found by the jury were his lack of a sigmifibéstory of prior criminal convictions,

and the residual factor regarding “evidence of mitigation concernindhéiraater and record of the defendant and
the circumstares of his offense’d. at 1072 n.3 (citing 42 Pa.C.S.A. 88 9711(e)(1) and (e)(8)).
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On November 16, 199@epetitioneractingpro se filed a Motion for Post-Conviction

Collateral ReliefSeeCommonwealth v. Marshall, 812 A.2d 539, 542 (Pa. 200dafshall

lII"). The Post-Conviction Relief Act (“PCRA”) court appointed coundaimes S. Bruno,
Esquire-to represent petitionéf.On March 13, 1998, the PCRA codismissed petitioner’s
PCRA petition without a hearing.On December 18, 2002, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania

affirmed the PCRA court’s rulinggeeMarshall 11l.

B. Federal Habeas Corpus Proceedings

On May 22, 2003, petitioner filed his OriginBktition?? This case \as initially assigned
to formerUnited States District Judge Bruce W. Kauffman, who retired from the bench in 2009
as a senior judg®y Order of then Chief Judge, now Senior Judge, Harvey Bartle Ill, dated and
filed July 17, 20092 this matter waseassigned to the docket of now deceassited States
District Judge Thomas M. Golden. By Order of Judge Bartle dated August 4, 2010 and filed
August 9, 201G} this matter was reassigntmithe docket of my late colleague, United States
District Judge James Knoll GardnBry Order of formeiChief Judge Petrese B. Tucker filed
June 8, 2017 this case was reassigned to the undersigned.

Petitioner’s Original Petition was drafted by attorneys fromAggeral Community

Defender Officefor the Eastern District of PennsylvanfaOn December 10, 2014, petitioner

20 Petition at § 9see alsiMarshall IIl.

21 Petition at § 8Marshall 111, 812 A.2d at 543.

22 Document 1.

23 Document 71.

24 Document 76.

25 SeeDocument 1.



pro se filed a Motion to Remove Counsel, Appoint New Counsel, to Stay Proceedings and Hold
in Abeyance; Tolling Time (“Motion to Remove Counse&®)n the Motion to Remove Counsel,
petitioner alleged that he had never given consent to being representedrbgehad
Community Defender Office angquestedo be appointed new couns@in December 22,
2014, counsel from the Federal Community Defender Office filed a Motion By Coonsel f
Petitioner to Withdraw from RepresentatigMotion to Withdraw”)?’

After a hearing held on December 29120by Order of Judge Gardraated December
29, 2014 and filed January 9, 20%P%)e granted the Motion to Withdraw and removed the
Federal Community Defender Office as counsel for petitiongORler dated December 29,
2014 and filed January 9, 20#5Judge Gardner granted petitioner’s Motion to Remove Counsel
and indicated that new counsel would be appointed to represent petiigri@mer dagd and
filed January 13, 2015, Judge Gardner appointed Christian J. Hoey, Esquire, and Maureen C.
Coggins, Esquire, to regsent petitioner in this mattéf.

On April 1, 2015, petitioner pro se filed Petitioner's Pro Se Omnibus Métimnwhich
he requestedl) that court-appointed counsel be remoy@jithat all documents filed by the
Federal Community Defender Office, inding the Original Petition, be stricken; (3) that the

court grant leave to file a new habeas corpus petition; and (4) that the court remaratttriso

2 Document 85.
2 Document 88.
2 Document 92.
2 Document 93.
30 Document 95.
s Document 102.



state court for new PCRA proceedings without the involvement of the Federal Cdgnmuni
Defender Offce.

The filing of Petitioner's Pro Se Omnibus Motion prompted counsel to request a
determination of petitioner's competentyAfter a hearingheld on April 22, 2015, Judge
Gardner granted counsel’s request for a determination of competency. Aclygridirensic
psychologist Steven E. Samuel, Ph.D. traveled to the State Correctionatibrstt Graterford
(“SCI Graterford”) to evaluate petitioner, but he refused to meet withdnus|>3

Petitioner thereafter continued to request new counsel by filing Motion to Remove
Counsels, Appoint New Counsels on June 2, 2805idge Gardner held another hearing on
September 17, 2015, at which time petitioner stated that he was willing to be evajuated b
different doctor appointed by the court rather than chosen by his attoPetiyneralso stated
that he did not wish to represent himself, but would prefer to datserthan continue to be
represented by his court-appointed counsel.

Subsequently, Judge Gardner appointed Frank Dattilio, Ph.D. to evaluate petitioner,
which he did on December 28, 2015. Dr. Dattilio provided the court with a psychological
evaluation. On February 17, 2016, Judge Gardner held a hearing at wisktitee testimony
from Dr. Dattilio.By Order and Opinion dated March 21, 2016 &led under seal on March

23, 2016, Judge Gardner concludleat petitioner is not competent to either represent hirosel

82 SeeDocument 105 filed under seal on April 21, 2015.

33 Petitioner perceived that there was a conflict of interest in being evaluaizd $smuel because Dr.
Samuel had provided a psychological evaluation of petitioner's PCRAebuames S. Bruno, in connection with
Mr. Bruno’s past disciplinary proceedings.

34 Document 113.



assist counsel, denied his requests to remove counsel, and set a briefing schéuleafties
to update their original filing®

On July 7, 2016, pitioner filed his Amended Petitigif along with Petitioner’s
Amended Memorandurf.On May 22, 2017, respondents filed their Supplemental Respbnse.
[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Anti-Terrorism and Effective DeafPenalty Act of 1996 (“AEDPA’Y® imposes
certain procedural requirements and standards on federal courts for anfdgeira habeas
corpus petitions. Specifically, the AEDPA limits habeas corpus reliefdong adjudicated on
the merits by a state cout8 U.S.C. §2254(d)1)-(2).

Under this deferential standard, habeas corpus relief is barred unless thewstate
determination was “contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, cléabijsbed
Federal law, as determined by the Supredourt of the United States” or was “based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presetted3tate court
proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(@). In addition, a state court’s factual findings are

“presumed to be correct,” and the habeas corpus petitioner “shall have the burdherttioigre

35 On February 29, 2016, petitioner pro se filed a Notice of Appdhkttnited States Court of Appeals for

the Third Circuit (Document 137) concerning what he believed to beeJadginer’s ruling that he is incompetent.
However, at that time, Judge Gardner had not yet rulggbtitioner's competency. Ultimately, by Ordeand

Opinion dated March 21, 2016 and filed March 23, 2016 (Documents 140 & 141), Judge Gartnande

that petitioner is incompetent to assist counsel, or to proceed praldbeeefore denied his request to remove his
counsel.

By decision of he Third Circuit dated October 25, 2016 (Third Circuit Docket NeQQ®0), the Third
Circuit dismissed petitioner’s appeal, ruling that his Notice qiegp was premature because it was filed before
Judge Gardner’s Order and Opinion ruling on his compgten

36 Document 145.
37 Document 146.
38 Document 158.
39 See?28 U.S.C. 88 2254(d)(A(R) and (e)(1).



the presumption of correctness by clear and convincing evidence.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254¢d1); B
v. Beard, 539 F.3d 256, 263 (3d Cir. 2008).

Furthermore, a state court decision is “contrary to” United States Supremnte Cou
precedent “if the state court arrives at a conclusion opposite to that reachieel Bygteme]
Court on a question of law or if the state court decides a case differently thanuhi$©&s on a

set of materiallyndistinguishable facts Williams v. Taylor 529 U.S. 362, 413, 120 S. Ct.

1495, 1523, 146 LEd. 2d 389, 430 (2000).

A state court decision is an “unreasonable application” of Supreme Court pretede
the state court identifies the correct govegiliegal principle from [the Supreme] Court’s
decisions but unreasonably applies that principle to the facts of the [habeaspetitpurser’s]
case.”Williams, 529 U.S. at 413, 120 S. Ct. at 15236 L.Ed. 2d at 430.

The AEDPA'’s deferential standards do not apply “unless it is clear from thefae
state court decision that the merits of the petitioner’s constitutional claims wenenegan
light of federal law as established by the Supréourt of the United States.” Jacobs v. Horn,

395 F.3d 92, 100 (3d Cir. 2005) (quotiEgerett v. Beard290 F.3d 500, 508 (3d Cir. 2002).

cases where the AEDPA standard of review is inapplicable, “the federal habdanustur
conduct a de novo review over pure legal questions and mixed questions of fastaas a

court would have done prior to the enactment of AEDPA.” Thomas v. Horn, 570 F.3d 105, 113

(3d Cir. 2009) (quoting Appel v. Horn, 250 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2001)).
Becausehe AEDPA'’s standardapply to state court decisions on the merits, they do not

apply to state court adjudications denying relief basdelyon procedural grounds.
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V. FACTS

The following facts have been taken from the Supreme Court of Pennsylvamigisme
in Marshalll, 568 A.2d 590.

On January 25, 1983, James Burley and his mother went Rhilaelelphiaapartment of
James’sister, Sharon Saundersl. at593. They observed that the apartment was very hot with a
foul odor.ld. They then discovered the bodies of Shaham twoyearold daughter, Karima
Saunders and Myndie McKold. Their nude bodies were found under a mattress in one of the
bedroomsl|d. Additionally, Sharon’s steo and speakers were missiith.James and his mother
called the police and reportéte incidentld.

When the police arrived at the scene, they recovered a manila envelope withgr&itio
name and address along with documents indicating the time and place where tleedaled to
retrieve his welfare checkd. On the front othe envelope was writte “Jerome and Sharon 4
ever”.ld.

The police then began a search for petitiolteThey wentto his listed addressvaited
for him at the bank, and visited his parents, aunts, and uietl&$e police also went thé
home of petitioner’s brothétugene Marshall, and Eugene’s wife, Irene MarskallAt
Eugene’s home, the police observed a stereo and speakers fitting the descripgamestt
missing from Sharon’s apartmeid. The police obtained a search warrant for tlkeeest and
speakes and returned to seize thelgh. at 593-594. Irene told the police that petitioner brought
the stereo and speakers to th@me and sold them to Eugeit.at 594.

Eugene told the police that he encountered his brother, petitioneistoget corner near
to where the victims lived aund the time of their deathsl. He stated that petitioner was

carrying a knfie and had blood on his shild. Eugene reportedly harbored petitioner in his home
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for a few days, and was aware tpatitioner subsequently returned to the victims’ apartment to
retrieve some of his belongings and the stereo thiattéesold to Eugendd. Most importantly
Eugene told the police that petitioner t@mhfessed the murders to hila.

The police thembtained a warrant for petitioner’s arrekl. After an extensive search,
petitioner wadinally apprehended on November 10, 1983 and brought to the Norristown,
Pennsylvania, police statioldl. Petitioner was read hiMirandarights, andhe decided to aive
those rights and give a statement to thécpatonfessing to the murdeld. Petitioner was
charged with criminal homicide for the deaths of Sharon Saunders, Karima Saanders
Myndie McKoy.Id. at 593.

Petitioner’s statement contained the following information:

Appellant recounted that he and Sharon had been lovers
and that when she told him she was to marry another he became
enraged. On the day of the murders, he had sex with the twenty
year old Sharon, and while she slept, he put a clothes line around
her reck and strangled her to death. He then went into Myndie
McKoy's room to tie her up. When she awoke and began to
scream, he found a knife and stabbed her in order to quiet her and
tied her up. He then dragged her into the bathroom and filled the
tub up with water. She pleaded with himeave her alone and she
promised not to tell anyone and again began to scream, and then
Appellant plunged Myndie's head under the water in the tub and
held it there until Myndie no longer moved. Having permanently
silenced Myndie, he dragged her body into Sharon's bedroom and
laid her corpse next to Sharon. Appellant also admitted that he
killed Sharon's tworearold baby, Karima, by strangulation and
drowning because the baby was awakened by the commotion and
called out for her mother. When little Karimeas dead, Appellant
put her between the bodies of Sharon and Myndie and covered
their bodies with a mattress.

When he left the premises, he ran into his brother and then
went to his brother's home where he changed his bloody shirt and
stayed for a few days. He went back to the apartment to retrieve
some of his belongings and took the stereo and speakers. He stated
that he sold these items to Eugene and then left town because he
knew that the Philadelphia police were looking for him.
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Marshall | 568 A.2dat 563565.
V. ANALYSIS

A. Exhaustion of State Court Remedies

“It is axiomatic that a federal habeas court may not grant a petition for afaabeas
corpus filed by a person incarcerated from a judgment of a state court unlesgitrepbas

first exhausted the remedies available in the state coudmbert v. Blackwell, 134 F.3d 506,

513 (3d Cir. 1997)see als®8 U.S.C. § 2254(b)(1)(A). The exhaustion requirement is rooted in
principles of comity, and it affords state courts the first opportunity to adjiedeonstitutional

challenges to state convictiorGoleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 731, 111 S. Ct. 2546,

2555, 115 LEd. 2d 640, 657 (1991).

To properly satisfy the exhaustion requirement, the petitioner must providatteaurt
with the first ogortunity to hear the same claim raised in the federal habeas pdRiiand v.
Connor, 404 U.S. 270, 276, 92 S. Ct. 509, 512, 3bdL.2d 438, 444 (1971).he petitioner must
invoke “one complete round of the Statestablished appellate review proce€s3ullivan v.
Boercke) 526 U.S. 838, 845, 119 S. Ct. 1728, 1732, 148d.2d 1, 9 (1999)Once thdssue
has been raised on direct appeal, a petitioner is not required to raise it agsiatarpast

conviction proceeding. Werts v. Vaughn, 228 F.3d 178, 192 (3d Cir. 2000).

The claim must be “fairly presented” to the state courts, which means thengetitiast
“present a federal claim’s factual and legal substance to the state courts in athmetrmes

them on notice that a federal claim is being asserted.” McCandlgssighn, 172 F.3d 255,

261 (3d Cir. 1999). “It is not enough that all the facts necessary to support the fed@ralata

before the state courts..Ahderson v. Harless, 459 U.S. 4, 6, 103 S. Ct. 276, 2V, Ed. 2d

3, 7 (1982)The “mere similarity of claim is insufficient to exhaust.” Keller v. Larkins, 251
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F.3d 408, 413-414 (3d Cir. 2001) (quoting Duncan v. Henry, 513 U.S. 364, 366, 115 S. Ct. 887,

888, 130 LEd. 2d 865, 868 (1995)).
However, petitioner is not required to cite “book and verse” to the federal Constituti
his statdaw claim. Picard 404 U.S. at 278, 92 S. Ct. at 513, 3(EH. 2d at 445 fiternal
guotation omitted). The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has provided four
ways in which petitioners canifly present a federal claim to state courts without explicitly
referencing the federal Constitution or federal laws:
(a) reliance on pertinent federal cases employing constitutional
analysis, (b) reliance on state cases employing constitutional
analysisn like fact situations, (c) assertion of the claim in terms so
particular as to call to mind a specific right protected by the
Constitution, andd) allegation of a pattern of facts that is well
within the mainstream of constitutional litigation.

McCandless172 F.3d at 26 (internal quotation omitted).

B. Procedural Default and the Relaxed Waiver Rule

A claim may be deemed exhausted although it has not bebnpresented to state
courts ifno state corrective processes are availablé,aimcumstances exist that render such

processes ineffective to protebe rights of the petitioner. 28 U.S.C. Z%4(b)(1)(B)(i),(ii);

Szuchon v. Lehman, 273 F.3d 299, 323 n.14 (3d Cir. 200d¢andless172 F.3d at 260.

However, where a clains unexhausted because of petitioner’s failure to comply with a
state procedural rule, such claims are considered procedieédlylted. Werts228 F.3d at 192
& n.9. A federal habeas court “will not review a question of federal law decided byeastat
if the decision of [the state] court rests on a state law ground that is independentd¢riie fe
guestion and adequate to support the judgment.” Jacobs v. Horn, 395 F.3d 92, 117 (3d Cir. 2005)

(internal quotations omitted3ee alsdronshtein v. Horn, 404 F.3d 700, 707 (3d Cir. 2005).
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A state court decision rests on “independent” state grounds when “resolution ofeghe sta
procedural law question” does not depend on a “federal constitutional ruling.” Laird v. Horn, 159
F. Supp. 2d 58, 73 (E.D.Pa. 2001)(internal quotations omiiéfit), 414 F.3d 419 (3d Cir.

2005).

For a state rule to provide an “adequate” basis for precluding federal reviewatd a s

prisoner's habeas claim, the rule must have been firmly established andydglidaved at the

time the alleged default occurrefilbrecht v. Horn, 485 F.3d 103, 115 (3d Cir. 200b)is

requirement ensures that petitioner had fair notice of the need to followtthersteedural rule
before barring habeas revieBronshtén, 404 F.3d at 707.

A state procedural rule is considered “adequate” when it has the followiibgtets: “(1)
the state procedural rule speaks in unmistakable terms; (2) all state appeilttteetused to
review the petitiones claims on the mis; and (3) the state courtsfusal in this instance is
corsistent with other decisionsJacobs395 F.3d at 117.

In this case, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that certain claieashyis

petitioner on PCRA appé&diwere waived for petitioner’s failure to raise them on direct appeal.

40 The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that the following claimswaved for failure to raise them on
direct appeal:

(1) The Commonwealthsed its Peremptory strikes to discriminate against
women, AfricanAmericans and persons of Jewish ancestry; (2) The trial court
improperly excluded prospective jurors in violation of Appellant's sighitan
impartial jury and fair trial; (3) The prosecutor committed miscondyct b
introducing improper evidence at the guilt phase and making impropearglosi
arguments in violation of Appellant's right to a fair trial; (4) Appellangists

were violated at the guilt phase of his trial and both penalty gitaseedings
when the trial court gave a reasonable doubt instruction to the jury; (5)
Appellant's rights were violated by the trial court's erroneous liegsefthe
burden of proof on the element of corpus delicti; (6) The trial court's atistng
after the jury reported a deadlock impermissibly suggested the verdict favored
by the court and coerced the jury to return a death verdict with respect to the
counts on which they were deadlocked; (7) Appellant is entitleelief from

his death sentence because the penalty phase jury instructions and verdict sheet
unconstitutionally indicated that the jury had to unanimously find any
mitigating circumstance before it could give effect to that circumstance in its

-15-



Respondents contend that the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania’s waiver renders many of
petitioner’s claims for habeas relief procedurally defauReditioner argues that the procedural
default is not supportdoly adequate stalaw grounds because the waiver rule had not been
firmly established and regularly followed at the time petitioner took histdipgaeal.

For capital cases, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania established the pragiugiof
a relaxed waiver rule because of the “final and irrevocadiiere of the death penalty.”

Commonwealth v. Zettlemoyes00 Pa. 16, 50 n.19, 454 A.2d 937, 955 n.19 (1982).

Accordingly, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania would not adhere strictly to thalmalkes of

sentencing decision; (8) Appellant was seiced to death on the basis of an
aggravating factethe witness elimination aggravating factbat violated due
process and the ex post facto clause and failed to channel the sentencer's
discretion; (9) Appellant is entitled to relief from his death eecegs because of

the prosecutor's improper closing argument at the initial penalty phasad)

(10) The trial court deprived Appellant of a fair and reliable capital sentgnc
proceeding when it instructed the jury at both penalty trials that it cald

consider sympathy in reaching its verdict; (11) Appellant's death senteunst

be vacated because the sentencing jury was never instructed that, if semtenced t
life, Appellant would be statutorily ineligible for parole; (12) Appelisudeath
sentene must be vacated because one of the jurors failed to inform the court
during voir dire that she had been the victim of crimes of violence and had close
relatives who were convicted of murder; (13) The admission of exéeasd
inflammatory evidence regding the murders of the two women at the penalty
phase retrial, and the prosecutor's repeated references to the details of those
murders, deprived Appellant of a fair sentencing proceeding; (14) Appisllant
entitled to relief from his death sentence beesof the prosecutor's improper
closing argument at the penalty phase retrial; (15) The trial court'satondu
towards the jury at the second penalty hearing amounted to a directed verdict in
favor of the Commonwealth and constituted impermissible comnment o
Appellant's decision not to testify.

Marshall 11, 812 A.2d 539, 54544,

The above claims constitute the following claims raised in the inséatibs 2254 Petition: Claim VI
(Claim 1 above), Claim VIl (Claim 2 above), Claim VIII (Claim 3 above), @lill (Claim 6 above), Claim |
(Claim 7 above), Claim XI (Claim 8 above), Claim IX (Claim 9 above), Clair€ldi(n 11 above), Claim XVI
(Claim 12 above), Claim XIX (Claim 13 above), Claim XX (Claim 14 abovay, @aim XXII (Claim 15 above).
Claims 4, 5, and 10 above were not raised again in the instant matter. Howewtedasanlier, all claims relating
petitioner's death sentences are now moot. Accordingly, Claims X,1X], XII, XVI, XIX, XX and XXII are not
relevant to my discussion fen because they all relate to petitioner’s death sentence. The only clairesiener
is a potential waiver because they were not raised on direct appeal are Clairisavid VIII. | discuss this later
in this Opinion.
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waiver and would consider the merits of claims otherwise waived for fadyeoperlypreserve

for appellate reviewld.; see als&zuchon, 273 F.3d at 325-326.

Petitioner was not fairly on notice that the ordinary waiver rule would applg tapital
case on his direct appeals, the first of which was decided in 1989 and the second of which was
decided in 1994, because the Pennsylvania courts did not have a firmly established artygl regula
followed rule enforcing waiveSeeMarshall | 568 A.2d 590Marshall 11, 643 A.2d 1070.
Therefore, as the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit lihgheeholding that a
claim has been waived for petitioner’s failure to raise it on direct appeal intal cage is not
“adequate’to support the judgment for purposes of procedural default. Szuchon, 273 F.3d at
327.

On November 23, 1998 the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that the relaxed waiver
rule would no longer apply to capital cases at thetponviction appellate stage.

Commonwealth v. Albrecht, 554 Pa. 31, 44, 720 A.2d 693, 700 (1998). The Court held that “the

negligible benefits of relaxed waiver at the PCRA appellate stage are more tivaigbed by
the need for finality and efficient use thie resources of this cdtir554 Pa. at 45, 720 A.2d at
700.

Following Albrecht, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania “deems an issue waived where
the petitioner failed tpresent it to the PCRA courtJacobs395 F.3d at 11 Accordingly, after
Albrechtthe waiver rule would be osidered an “adequate” stdéev ground for procedural
default purposes on habeas review because a petitioner would have fair notieguifdtgion

in capital case$!

4l The Third Circuit has noteplicitly held when the waiver rule, as applied in capital cases on PCRéwgevi

specifically became firmly established and regularly followed. InsthadThird Circuit has only had occasion to
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Here,the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled on petitioner’s first direct appeal on

December 22, 1989, prelbrecht SeeMarshall | 568 A.2d 590He was therefore not on notice

that the relaxed waiver rule would not apply to his case. Accordingly, the waleés not an
“adequate” state court ground causing petitioner’s claims pydzeedurally defaulted.

Respondents contend that the waiver rule was an adequate state court groungd because
rather than being inconsistently applied, it was a “discretionary” iHdesever, respondents
have cited no authority for the proposition thatwraver rule, as applied in capital cases,
amounts to a “discretionary” rule which is an adequate state grByrabntrast,Third Circuit
precedent establish#sat the waiver rule was not an adequate state ground in capital cases
during the existencef the relaxed waiver doctrin€eelJacobs395 F.3d 92, Bronshtein, 404

F.3d at 708-10; Szuchon, 273 F.3d at 326-27.

Respondentsite to numerous published and unpublished decisions of this fooine
proposition that the waiver rule is an adequate state ground. Decisions of this court are
insufficient to overcome the Third Circuit precedent noted above. Moreeaen of these cases
is distinguisable for significant reasoniirst, threeof the casesited by respondentrenot

capital case SeeWilliams v. Sauers2015 WL 787275 (E.D.Pa. Feb. 25, 2Q1&nith v.

Vaughn 1997 WL 338851 (E.D.Pa. June 17, 19@nxCatanch v. Larkins, 1999 WL 529036

(E.D.Pa. July 23, 1999). Thus, thearekd waiver doctrine was not at issue in those cases.
Second, another case reasoned that the relaxed waiver doctrine was erddimadéd t
amendments to the PCRA in 1995, and that the petitiartbat caseherefore “could not have

justifiably relied onthe relaxed waiver doctrine as grounds for failing to timely raise his€laim

hold that the procedural rule could not have been firmptdéished and regularly followed befoibrecht See
e.g, Bronshtein 404 F.3d at 709.
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in a direct appeal after 1995. Sdelloway v. Horn, 161 F. Supp. 2d 452, 475 (E.D.Pa. 2001),

reversed in part on other grounds_by Holloway v. Horn, 355 F.3d 707 (3d Cir. 2004). However,

petitionerherefiled hisfirst direct appealthe point at which it is alleged he waived certain
claims,many years prior to the 1995 amendments.

Following respondents logic, there would be no distinction between “discreticndey”
and those rules which are simply inconsistently applied. Every inconsistepligdcarule would
be converted into a discretionary rule. This is, however, an important distinctiondéuaus
purpose of requiring state law to be regularly-followed in order to dedlaate” to bar federal
review is to ensure that petitioner had notice of the state law ground bmfererfg his right to
pursue a claimBronshtein, 404 F.3d at 707.

Discretionary rules still allow for notice because “judicial discretion ie¥eecise of
judgment according to standards that, at least over time, can become known and understood

within reasonable operating limitsMorales v. Calderon, 85 F.3d 1387, 1392 (9th Cir. 1986).

this case, respondents have not pointed to any set of factors forming an understiaddaid
regarding when the relaxed war doctrine would be invoked. Accordingly, the waiver rule is
insufficient to support a procedural detaaf petitioner’s Claims VI, VII and VIl

C. Previously-Litigated Bar.

ThePennsylvania Supreme Court also upheld the PCRA court’s refusal to hold an
evidentiary hearing to address the merits of one of petitioner’s other ekaiatis “trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present evidendpdtitipner's] mental
impairments, in conjunction with the conduct of the police, rendered his confession involuntary.

Marshall Ill, 812 A.2d at 544.
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The court held that thiseffectiveness claim was not reviewable becauladtbeen
previously litigatedld. (citing 42 Pa.C.S.A. 8§ 9543(a)(3M) categorized the claim as Yeiled
attempt to relitigate the same suppression issue that [petitinrestpusly raised on his direct
appedl. Id.

The Third Circuit held that the previoudltigated bar to PCRAeview is not an

“independent” state law ground which would bar federal revé@seBoyd v. Waymart579 F.3d

330, 368-69 (3d Cir. 2009). The Commonwealth concedes that the previously-litigated bar no
longer gerates to bar federal revieiccordingly, theentirety of petitioner’s Claim Il is
reviewable.

D. Cause and Prejudice

Petitioner has raised several claims which are procedurally defaulted becaaitehe f
raise them in state court and the time for doing so has elapsed.

A federal court may still consider the merits of petitioner’s procedurallytdetaclaim
if a petitioner can establish cause and prejudice for his failure to complyhsistate procedural
rule, or that a fundamental miscarriage of justice would reggjtliring excusal of the

procedural default. Carpenter v. Vaughn, 296 F.3d 138, 146 (3d Cir. 2002).

A fundamental miscarriage of justice can be established only in extragrdas®s, and
“petitioner must prove that it is more likely than not thatemsonable jor would have
convicted him."Werts 228 F.3d at 193.

“Cause” for procedural default can be established where some objective factaaldrtern
the defense impeded counsel’s efforts to complly the state procedural rulel. The United

States Supreme Court has held that ineffective assistance of counsel pursuantxtit the Si
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Amendment can constitute cause for procedural defdutray v. Carriey 477 U.S. 478, 488,

106 S. Ct. 2639, 2645, 91 Ed. 2d 397, 409 (1986).

A petitioner can establish the “prejudice” requirement by showing thatl#uyea error
“worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, infecting his entireithanorof
constitutional dimensionsWerts 228 F.3d at 193 (internal quotations omitt&tihere
ineffective assistance of counsel is the alleged “cause,” prejudice occurs “wherestaer
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s deficient performance, theakthe proceedig
would have been differentWerts 228 F.3d at 193 (internal quotatsoamitted).

The United States Supreme Court has held that there is no constitutional right to an

attorney in state post-conviction proceedings. Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 752, 111 S.

Ct. 2546, 2566, 115 L. Ed. 2d 640, 671 (19€nsequently, petitioner cannot make a Sixth
Amendment claim for ineffective assistanof post-conviction counsétl. In Coleman, the
United States Supreme Court explained that procedural default resulting frorutonstly
ineffective assistance of counsel iseatternal factor that is imputed to the state because of the
state’s responsibility to provide competent counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amentinent.
However, “[iJn the absence of a constitutional violation, the petitioner bearskhe federal
habeasdr all attorney errors made in the course of the representation....” 501 U.S. at 754, 111 S.
Ct. at 2567, 115 LEd.2d at 672.

However, the United States Supreme Cbas created a narrow exception to the rule set

forth in ColemanIn Martinez v. Ryan566 U.S. 1, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 182Hd. 2d 272 (2012)

the Supreme Court held that a prisoner may establish cause for theupabdedault of an
ineffectiveassistancef-trial-counsel claim by demonstrating the ineffectiveness of counsel in

an “initial-review collateral proceeding”. The Supreme Court defined “initi@lew collateral
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proceeding” as a collateral proceeding that “provide[s] the first occasiorséocaralaim of

ineffective assistance at triab66 U.S. at 8, 132 S. Ct. at 1315, 182 L. Ed. 2d at 282.
Accordingly, while petitioner did not have a constitutional right to PCRA counsel, the

alleged ineffectiveness of PCRA counsel may constitute cause for petitipraaégiural default

of a claim of ineffectiveness of trial coundelartinez, supra.

The only claim that petitioner presents which waquddentiallyfall into theMartinez

exception is Claim XXXt

PCRA Counsel Was Ineffective for Failing to Raise Several Errors

and Failure Committed by Trial Counsel that Undermined the

Truth Determining Process, Deprives the Proceedings of the

Reliability and Accuracy Demanded by the United States

Constitution and, Had the Evidence Been Presented, There is a

Reasonable Probability that the Result of the Proceedings Would

Have Been Different
This is petitioner’s only claim where he asserts that PCRA counsel waecinedffor failing to
raise the ineffectiveness of trial counsg¢bwever, in Claim XXXII, petitioner also argues that
PCRA counsel was ineffective for failing to assert thef@utiveness of direct appeal counsel.
That portion of Claim XXXII will not establish cause for default becausédatinezexception

does not apply to PCRA counsel’s failure to address the ineffectiveness of pireat eounsel.

SeeDavilav. Davis, _ U.S. __, 137 S. Ct. 2058, 198 L. Ed. 2d 603 (2017).

Petitioner also raises an additional claim of PCRA counsel'galeneffectiveness in
Claim XXXIII: “PCRA Counsel Was Ineffective Because He Abandoned Petitioner andel|
Attorneys from the FDCO tblandle the PCRA Proceeding8ecause this claim does not

involve the failure to raise trial counsel ineffectiveness, it does not fall withitineZs narrow

exception taColeman SeeDavila, supra It is therefore not reviewable. However, as noted
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below, Claims XXXII and XXXIII are timebarred, thus, it will be unnecessary to address the
applicability ofMartinezas cause to overcome procedural default
E. Grounds for Relief.
1. Claim IlI: Petitioner’'s Confession Was Involuntary; Trial Counsel
Was Ineffective for Failing to Investigate and Present Evidence that
Petitioner’s Mental Impairments, in Addition to the Conduct of the
Police, Rendered HisStatement Involuntary.
The Pennsylvania Supreme Court rejected the ineffectiveness portiosiatéitimi as

previouslylitigated.However, as discussed above, an ineffectiveness claim isctlistm the

underlying claimSeeCommonwealth v. Collins, 888 A.2d 564 (Pa. 2005). Accordingly, the

entirety of this claim has been exhausted and is now reviewable.
To demonstrate ineffectiveness of counpetjtioner must demonstrat@) “that
counsel’s performance was deficient”; and (2) “that the deficient performanaeipeg the

defense.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 R0 2d 674

(1984). The deficiency must consist of “errors so serious that counsel was nioniagcas the
‘counsel’ guaranteed the def#ant by the Sixth Amendmentd. Furthermore, to establish
prejudice, petitioner must show that “counsel’s errors were so serious as to tlepdeéendant
of a fair trial, a tial whose result is reliablelt.

Petitioner’s underlying claim that his confession was involuntary lacks, mued
therefore his trial counsel was not ineffective for failiagrivestigate it furthef[T]actics for
eliciting inculpatory statements must fall within the broad constitutional boundariesechpyg

the Fourteenth Amendment’s guatee of fundamental fairnesiller v. Fenton, 474 U.S.

104, 110, 106 S. Ct. 445, 449, 88Hd. 2d 405 (1985).
Petitioner claims, and cites evidence for the proposition, that there wasra patt

practice of police brutality within the Philadelphia Police Department duringatheral time
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frame of petitioner’s confessiokven if true, it would have been impermissible for the trial
court to assume that petitioriarparticularhad probably been physically coerced into confessing
based solely on thallegedpattern or practice.

Petitioner’s suggestion that his attorney may have uncovered more evidemppdd s
his claim that he, personally, was physically coerceshiselyspeculative. There was no
evidence to support a suspicion that petitioner was physically coercedssqiugfsical injuries.
His trial attorneywas notineffective for failing to investigate further.

Moreover, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court correctly concluded that the fact that
petitioner was shown photographs of the victims was insufficient to amoumbtoeal
coercion.The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has, in other cases, found the same tactics

insufficient to amount to coercioBee, e.g.Commonwealth v. Fahy, 516 A.2d 68%(1986)4?

Furthermore, the police officers who questioned petitioner testified thatrgnbun the
photographs did not appear to have a coercive effect on him; rather, bewandesponsive.
SeeMarshall 1, 568 A.2d at 595The officers also testified thaeftioner’'s confession was not
triggered by the photographs. Instead, he “decided to make his confession aftsrshewia his
brother’s statement in which he told his brother that he had killed the wolden.”

Under the AEDPA’s deferential standard of reviewtate court’s factual findings are
“presumed to be correct,” and the habeas corpus petitioner “shall have the burdherttioigre
the presumption of correctness by clear and convincing evidence.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1);

Bond v. Beard, 539 F.3d 256, 263 (3d Cir. 20@&)cordingly, | must give deference to the state

42 The defendant ikrahyfurther alleged that, while being questioned, “he experienced fatigliharffects
of his seizure and depression medicati¢grahy 516 A.2d at 695. Those alleged facts, combined with being shown
a photograph of the victim, still did not render his statement involuntary
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court’s credibility determinations regarding petitioner and the officerstedtdied at the
suppression hearing. Petitioner has failed to rebut these findings.

Petitioner also allegdhbat his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present mental
health evidence in support of his suppression motion. However, the record reflects tibatpeti
refused to be evaluated Bymental health professional. Sdarshall 11l, 812 A.2d at 548 & 548
n.9. Petitioner's counsel cannot be faulted for failing to present evidence thaheehimself
rendered unavailable.

Furthermore, petitioner has still not provided any mental health evaluatiornts whic
support his claim thatis# confession was involuntary. Rather, no later evaluation to which he
submitted ever specifically addressed the voluntariness of his confession.

Petitioner has been evaluated by four medical professionals, court psychbltegst
deCruz, M.S.; neuropsychologist Carol Armstrong, Ph.D., clinical psychologist Jeibmneer,
Ph.D.; and clinical psychologist Kirk Heilbrun, Phlat. deCruz found petitioner competent,
less than a year from his confession to pdiid@r. Armstrong opines that petitioner suffésm
neurocognitive deficits that make him more vulnerable and less able to deakes#ilst
situations** Dr. Toomer states that petitioner can become psychotic in stressful sitifations,
suffers from cognitive and emotional impairments as a resuligahar brain damag®,and was

psychotic at the time of the killing$.Dr. Heilbrun opined that at the time of the offense

43 Respondent’s Exhibit 13, p. 5.
a4 Petitioner’'s Exhibit 5, p. 1.

45 Petitioner’s Exhibit 6, at 1 20.
46 Id. at 7 17.

a7 Id. at 7 22.
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petitioner suffered from a mental or emotional disturbance and his capaatyfoons his
conduct to the requirements of law was in@af*®

None of the four mental health professionals opined on petitioner’s mental condition at
the time of his confession, over nine months after the deaths of Sharon Saunders, Karima
Saunders, and Myndie McKo@ne was conducted a year after ¢befession and the other
three were conducted nearly fourteen years later. These evaluations are almdemgvto say
the least concerning the issue of the voluntariness of petitioner’s confessiorcéo poli

Upon review, | cannot conclude that the state court’s conclusion that petitioner’s
confession was voluntary, and that his suppression motion was properly deniézhiasy
to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal |laas$ toaged on
an unreasonable determiioa of the facts in light of the evidence presentethe State court
proceeding.”28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1(2). Moreover, | cannot conclude that petitioner’'s counsel
was ineffective for failing to investigate further to support this meritless céspemlly in light
of petitioner’s unwillingness to cooperate with any songntal evaluation prior to trial
Accordingly Claim lllis denied.

2. Claim IV: The Trial Testimony of the Medical Examiner, Dr.
Aronson, Was False and Misleading, and Trial Counsel Was
Ineffective for Failing to Impeach Him.

On PCRA review, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court found the underlying substantive

prosecutorial misconduct portion of tlusim waived when petitioner failed to raise it on direct

appeal SeeMarshall 1ll, 812 A.2d at 550 n.2. However, in light of the relaxed waiver doctrine

which applied in capital cases in Pennsylvania at the time petitioner filed hisagipeal, the

48 Petitioner’'s Exhibit 8, at § 25.
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waiver rule does not constitute an “adequate” state law ground which previent federal
review.

Deferential review under the AEDPA applies to this claim because, although the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court found that this claim had been waivedeithedgss reviewed its

merits.SeeMarshall lll, 812 A.2d at 549-5Gee alsdrolan v. Coleman, 680 F.3d 311, 321 (3d

Cir. 2012) (noting that the “AEDPA draws no such distinction for alternative rulings”)

The state court’s conclusion that the testimony of the medical examinernddsoR,
was not misleading or deceptive is not “contrary to” or an “unreasonable applicatieaeral
law. Moreover, because Dr. Aronson’s testimony was not false or misleaditignpes
attorney was not ineffective for failing to impeach him.

Petitioner asserts that Dr. Aronson’s testimony at trial was false or misldstiagse he
testified that he could not rule out drowning as a cause of death for Myndie McKoy amé Kar
Saunders, but later testified at petitioner’'s second penalty phase hearrimg ¢cbald rule out
drowning as a cause of death.

The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania reviewed petitioner’s claim and statekbas:fol

Next, [petitioner] claims that the PCRA court erlad
denying his petition without first holding an evidentiary hearing
regarding his claim that the trial testimony of the medical
examiner, Dr. Aronson, was misleading, and therefore, his trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach him. This claim
fails.

At [petitioner’s] trial, Dr. Aronson tedted that the cause
of Myndi McKoy’s and Karima Saunders deaths was ligature
strangulation, but that he could not exclude drowning as a
contributing cause to their deaths. (N.T., 8/3/84, 23-24, 28, 57-58
[Petitioner] contends that his trial counsel should have impeached
Dr. Aronson’s testimony that he could not exclude drowning as a
contributing causef the deaths because such testimony was
misleading and/or deceptive. In support of his contention,
[petitioner] points to a specific portion of Dr. Aronson’s testimony
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at his 1990 penalty phase rehearing. However, this testimony from
the 1990 penalty phase rehearing clearly indicates that Dr.
Aronson’s testimony was fully consistent with his prior testignon

at [petitioner’s] trial that he could not exclude drowning as a
contributing cause to the deaths of Myndi McKoy and Karima
Saunders. In response to questioning by [petitioner’s] counsel, Dr.
Aronsontestified as follows at the 1990 penalty phase rehgarin

Q: Now, there has been some discussion here about
whether you could eliminate drowning as a cause of
death, and you said you could not. On the other
hand, you have said that with regard to two of these
people, Myndi McKoy and Sharon Karima
Saunders, that you can eliminate drowning as the
cause of death but you cannot eliminate it as
contributing, | wonder if you can clarify that.

A: Let me clarify, | think you misspoke in your
guestion about cause. | cannot eliminate in any of
these cases that drowning was some factor
somewhere along the line. | can eliminate in all
three that it was a cause of death, because of the
discoloration of the mucous membrane, indicating
that the person was alive at the time the pressure
was put on their neck.

(N.T., 7/25/90, at 83.)

In his brief to this Court, [petitioner] carefully quotes only
Dr. Aronson’s statement that he could not eliminate drowning as
the cause of all three deaths, and argliasDr. Aronson’s
testimony establishes that he lied to the jury at [petitioner’s] trial
when he testified that he could not exclude drowning as a
contributing cause to Myndi McKoy’s and Karima Saunders
deaths. However, by removing Dr. Aronson’s statement from the
context in which it was made, it is actually [petitionpesgunent
that is misleading. Dr. Aronson’s response to counsel’s request for
clarification, taken as a whole, indicates that although he could not
exclude drowning as a contributing factor to the deaths of Myndi
McKoy and Karima Saunders, he was certain that ligature
strangulation was the actual cause of their deaths. His testimony is
therefore entirely consistent with his prior testimony at
[petitioner’s] trial that ligature strangulation was the cause of
Myndi McKoy’s and Karima Saunder’s deaths, but that drowning
could not be excluded as a contributing cause of their deaths.
Since Dr. Aronson’s trial testimony was neither deceptive nor
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misleading, [petitioner’s] instant ineffectiveness claim necessarily
fails.*®

Marshall 111, 812 A.2d at 549-50.
It wasentirely reasonable for the state court to conclude that Petitioner’'saflaim

ineffective assistance of counses without meritJohnson v. Tennis, 549 F.3d 296, 301 (3d

Cir. 2008). As stated by the Superior Court of Pennsylvania, the misleadingadpectlaim
is not Dr. Aronson’s testimony, it is petitioner's argument abodhiére is no evidence of trial
counsel’s ineffectiveness for failing to properly impeach Dr. Aronson. Hencdothmy

deferential AEDPA standard dooms Petitionaneffediveness claim. Seldarrington v. Richer,

562 U.S. 86, 105, 131 S. Ct. 770, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011) (explaining that applying the
AEDPA standard to &rickland claim requires the habeas court to apply double deference
because each standard it itself “highly deferential”).

Finally, there is not a scintilla of evidence of pragedal misconduct. The Supreme
Court’s determination that the prosecutorial misconduct aspect of this claifalddecause of
the false premise supporting it was not “contrary to, or involved an unreasonable apptitat
clearly established Federal law” or was “based on an unreasonable determinatofacistin
light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 22542)) (1)-
Therefore, under thdeference that must be afforded under the AEDPA star@iard) IV is

denied.

49 [Petitioner’s] instant claim for relief is fashioned both as a proseclimisaonduct claim and an
ineffective assistance of counsel claim. To the extent that [petitidaériscthat theCommonwealth’s presentation
of Dr. Aronson’s testimony constituted prosecutorial miscondait claim is waived, since [petitioner] could have
but did not raise the claim in his direct appeal to this Court. 42 Pa. C.S. $p&e$umin@rguendo that
[petitioner] did not waive his prosecutorial misconduct claim for pseg of the PCRA by failing to raise it in his
direct appeal, we would nevertheless find the claim to be without nieci, i too would be based on the false
premise that Dr. Aronsétrial testimony was misleading and/or deceptive.
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3. Claim V: Trial Counsel Was Ineffective at the Guilt Stage of Trial for
Failing to Investigate, Develop and Present a Diminished Capacity
Defense
ThePennsylvania Supreme Court’s conclusion that trial counsel was not ineffective for
failing to present a diminished capacity defense was not “contrary to” or esa&amable
application” of federal lawAs the Court noted, petitioner adamantly maintained his innocence,
going so far as to testify at his sentendiegring that he was innocent. Presenting a diminished
capacity defense would have been inappropriate in light of petitioner's a&imsocence

becausetiis a directly contrary clainDne cannobe guilty, yet not culpable by reason of

diminished capacity, anoe innocent at the same time. Snmonwealth v. Cross, 634 A.2d

173, 175 (Pa. 1993)t was therefore a reasonable tactical decision on the part of petitioner’s
attorney not to pursue this defense and, thus, coumsehot ineffective. Accordingly Claiivi
is denied.
4. Claim VI: Petitioner is Entitled to Relief from His Conviction and
Sentence Because the Commonwealth Discriminated Against African
American and Female Venirepersons in its Exercise of Peremptory
Jury Challenges.
(@) Petitioner Forfeited His Batson Claim.

At the outset, this claim fails because petitioner forfeited it by failing to make a
contemporaneous objection during jury selection regarding the prosecutor’s use of grempt
challengesThe Third Circuit has ruled that “the existence of a timely objection to the use of
peremptory strikes is not merely a matter of state procedural law; instead, jadijeetion is
requiredto preserve’ a claimeBatsonviolation for appeal and failing to do so will resu
forfeiture of the claim.’Lewis v. Horn, 581 F.3d 92, 102 (3d Cir. 2009) (quoty-Jamal v.

Horn, 520 F.3d 272, 284 (3d Cir. 2008), certiorari granted and judgment vacated on other

grounds by Beard v. Abdlama) 558 U.S. 1142, 130 S. Ct. 1134, 17%d. 2d 967 (2010))see
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alsoLark v. Secretary Pennsylvania Department of Corrections, 645 F.3d 596 (3d Cir. 2011)

(“We have held that, even in trials before the Supreme Court’s decidBaisan a timely
objection to the prosecutor’s exercise of peremptory strikes is a preredqoigising @8atson
claim on appeal.”) (citindgLewis, 581 F.3d at 102)

Although Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, g@ll2d 69 (1986), was

not decided until after petitioner’s trial and during the pendency of his first dippeal, he

could have raised a challenge unBatson’s antecesht, Swain v. Alabama380 U.S. 202, 85 S.

Ct. 824, 13 LEd. 2d 759 (1965), which was in effect at the time of petitioner’s tGaleLewis
v. Horn, 581 F.3d at 101-02 (“Althouddatsonwas not decided until after Lewis’s trial and
during the pendency of his direct appeal, Lewis did not make any objections to tloeiqmose
use of peremptory challenges under the then-prevailing standdwaadi.... As the Supreme
Court explained, an objection to the jury selection process @vdan‘necessarily ste an
equal protection violation subject to proof underBad¢sonstandard™.) (quoting Ford v.
Georgia 498 U.S. 411, 420, 111 S. Ct. 850, 11Z4. 2d 935 (1991)) Accordingly, this claim

is forfeited.Clausell v. Sherrer, 594 F.3d 191, 194-95 (3d Cir. 2010).

(b) Petitioner Has Failed to Make Out a Prima Facie Case Under
Batson/J.E.B.

Even assuming petitioner had not forfeited this claim, he has tailstate a prima facie
case. Because he has failed to establish a prima facie casejeniavy hearing is warranted.

SeeWilliams v. Beard 637 F.3d 195, 211 (3d Cir. 2011).

Batsonlaid out a three-step burdshifting framework:

First, a defendant must make a prima facie showing that a
peremptory challenge has been exercised on the basis of race.
Second, if that showing has been made, the prosecution must offer
a raceneutral basis fortgking the juror in question. Third, in light
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of the parties’ submissions, the trial court must determine whether
the defendant has shown purposeligstrimination.

Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 328-29, 123 S. Ct. 1029, 1035, 1&4.12d 931 (2003)
(citing Batson 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90Hd. 2d 69) (internal citations omitted).
This framework is difficult to apply in cases sucltlas where no contemporaneous
objection was made during voir dire. As the Third Circuit explained:
Application of Batson’s threpart burdershifting framework
requires attention by the trial judge to actions tad@ng jury
selection in the case at Imal. To determine whether the prosecutor
excluded jurors on the basis of race, the procedure established in
Batsonrelies on trial judges to consider ‘all relevant
circumstancesas they occur in the case before it. A Batson
claim requires a faghtersive inquiry into the prosecutor’s use of
peremptory challenges. A timely objection gives the trial judge an
opportunity to promptly consider alleged misconduct during jury
selection and develop a complete record.
Abu-Jama) 520 F.3d at 282 (emphasis addeldeed, “[theBatsonstandard for assessing a
prima facie showing is fluidnainly because it places great confidence in the ability of trial
judges to assess whether discrimination is at work based on the evidence at hand.” Holloway v.
Horn, 355 F.3d 707, 728 (3d Cir. 2004)(emphasis added).

Moreover, the Third Circuit has noted that it would be exélgmiifficult for a
prosecutor, many years later, to “accurately recall his reasons for the strievide
meaningful elaboration upon the reasons that he placed on the voir dire retmiayay, 355
F.3d at 725Therefore, tiis difficult to establistor assess a prima facie case where the trial court
was deprived of the opportunity to consider an objection or create a record, Badisthre

burden-shifting framework is strained where a prosecutor is deprived of theurpiyox

provide contemporaneous reasons for his peremptory strikes. Nonetheless, regrtheRatson

-32-



framework, petitioner has failed to establish a prima facie case whicll sloiftl the burden to
the Commonwealth to justify its use of peremptory strikes.
(c) Racial Strikes at theTrial and First Penalty Phase Hearing.

Petitioner alleges that he has established a prima facieindseBatsonwith respect to
his trial and first penalty phase hearing based on the prosecutor’s strikieratiEgan
Americans and white®etitionerprovides numbers for how many African American and white
individuals were available to be struck by the prosecutor, and how many were indekd str

However, it is unclear where petitioner obtained this information, which makes it
impossible to discernstaccuracy.The Commonwealth contends that there is no complete
record of the races of all venirepersons against whom peremptory challergasrought®
Furthermore, the numbers petitioner provides are different in different plabes ks
submissions. In his ended Petitionhe asserts that the prosecutor used seven strikes to remove
seven of thirteen available African Americans, and seven strikes to remonec$éwentyfive
available white venirepersonsin his Memorandum of Law, however, héegesthat the
prosecutor usesix peremptory strikes to remoge of thirteen availablé&frican American
venirepersons angkven strikes to remove seven of twefoiyr whites®? The Commonwealth

provides yet another different set of figurés.

50 SeeOriginal Commonwealth Brief at page 123 n.55.

51 SeeAmended Petition at 1 104, 105.

52 SeeMemorandum of Law at pages-55.

53 SeeOriginal Commonwealth Brief at page 124. The Commonwealth asserthehaiosecutor’s notes

indicate that the prosecutor struck six of sixteen available African idamer (a strike rate of 37.5%), and six out of
twenty-five available white venirepersofe strike rate of 24%).
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Puttingaside the issue of where petitioner obtained his information and whether or not it
is admissible here, and giving him the benefit of the doubt by using the numbers thateare m
beneficial to his claint? he has still failed to establish a prima facie aasger Batson.

The Third Circuit has explained that petitioner’s “burden at the initial stagesisoiv
merely that jurors of his race have been struck and that the strikes aravadi€an improper
motive.” Holloway, 355 F.3d at 728onetheless, peremptory challenges are presumed valid.

Williams v. Beard 637 F.3d 195, 214 (3d Cir. 2011) (citibgited States v. DeJesu&17 F.3d

500, 505 (3d Cir. 2003)).

In demonstrating an improper motive, relevant factors often inctagi¢he rumber of
racial group members in the panel; 2) the nature of the crime; 3) the race efetheéaaht; 4) a
pattern of strikes against racial group members; and 5) the questions andretatiemeg the

voir dire.” 1d. at 721 (citingJnited States v. Clenms, 843 F.2d 741, 748 (3d Cir. 1998).

Petitioner appears to rely solely on the fourth factor outlined at@zovelleged pattern of
strikesagainst racial group membekowever, his allegations in this regard are insufficient to
establish a prima facie cagéhe Third Circuit has held that there is no “per se” rule regarding
the number of potential jurors that must be struck to establishearpaftdiscriminatory strikes.
SeeClemons, 843 F.2d at 746 (“[W]e find that establishing some magic number or percentage to
trigger aBatsoninquiry wouldshort<ircuit the factspecificdetermination expressly reserved for
trial judges.”) Nonetheless, when compared with other cases, the facts alleged by peditgoner
insufficient to suggest an improper motive.

For example, iLewis v. Horn 581 F.3d 92 (3d Cir. 2009), the Third Circuit found no

Batsonviolation where a prosecutor allegedly struck eight African Americans and fotasw

54 The numbers more beneficial to petitioner’s claim are: seven strikes wadtdbirteen available African
Americans (a strike rate of 54%) and seven strikes used against-fiversyailable whites (a strike rate of 28%).
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even though the jury was ultimately composed of all white jurors. Those numbeesteapsp
moreindicative of an improper motive than here, where the prosecutor allegedlgqussd
strikes to remove noAfrican Americans aéfrican Americansand the ultimate jury was
composed o$ix African Americans andix white jurors.

In Holloway, by contrast, the Third Circuit did findBatsonviolation. However, in that

case, the prosecutor exercised all but one (eleven out of twelve) peremjites/tstremove

African Americans, and the prosecutor provided contemporaneous explanations fokess str
that were ultimatelyound to be merely pretextudh the present casenlike inHolloway, the
prosecutor’s peremptory strikes were usgdallyto removewhitesandAfrican Americans

(seven strikes for eachYloreover, there were no statements made by the prosecutor during voir
dire that would indicate macial animus or which petitioner claimsre provided aa pretext for
discrimination.

A case which falls more in betweenMiélliams v. Beard 637 F.3d 195 (3d Cir. 2011n

that case, the Third Circuit found that the petitioner had establishedafpdma case based on
the prosecutor’s strike rate for Africédmericans compared to whitdd. at 214. The prosecutor
there exercised fourteen out of sixteen peremptory strikes to remove foofiteaeteen African
Americans available to be struck (alst rate of 87.5%)ld. By contrast, the prosecutor
exercised only two strikes to remove two out of twesrtg-white venirepersons available to be
struck (a strike rate of 12.5%d. Ultimately, however, the court found Batsonviolation
because the prosecutor offered rae@atral reasons for the strikes at an emiidey hearing in
state courtld.

TheWilliams court noted that in other cases where petitioners were found to have made

out a prima facie case, “the strike rate exceeded 85%”, as compared to another case where no
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prima facie case was made where the strike rate afakftAmericans was only 66.7%. at

215 (citingHolloway, supra Brinson v. Vaughn, 398 F.3d 255 (3d Cir. 20033rdcastle v.
Horn, 368 F.3d 246 (3d Cir. 2004); aathu-Jama) 558 U.S. 1142, 130 S. Ct. 1134, 17%0.
2d 967).

In the present caspetitioner alleges that the prosecutor’s stride for African
Americans was 54% compared to &28trike rate for whitedVhile no per se rule exists
regarding what numbers suffice to establigbrimma facie case, an alleged%4trike rate for
African Americans falls well below the 85% strike rate noted by the Thilwhi€as having
existed in prior cases where a prima facie case had been estalSesablliams, 637 F.3d at
215.Given the fact that petitioner is relying solelytbese numbers to establish a prima facie
case, he falls woefully shott.

Petitioner furthepoints toa video tape utilized by the Philadelphia District Attorney’s
Office in the 1980s for the purposétraining new Assistant District Attornegs how to
conduct jury selection. This training video, prepared by former AssistanicDtiorney Jack
McMahon (“the McMahon tape”), was createdl®87, approximately threeegrs &er
petitioner’s trial.lt is undisputed that the tape advocates the use of practices which would likely
violate Batson

It should be noted, however, thataddition to being created years after petitioner’s trial,
Mr. McMahon was not the prosecutorhiis caseThe Third Circuit has held, undsimilar

circumstanceghat the McMahon tape is insufficient to establish a prima Baisonviolation.

55 Petitioner also asserts that researchers who reviewedéfghy capital cases prosecuted by the prosecutor
in his case, Roger King, found that he “struck black venirepersons 52%tohéhke was able to do so” and “struck
non-blacks only 24% of thtime”. Amended Petition at  118. These numbers are essentially compathable t
alleged numbers from petitioner’s own case and thus fail for the sanobaseksrthermore, it is unclear whether it

is appropriate to consider evidence from a small saofpdaly capital cases tried by Mr. King during an
undisclosed period of time, and without knowing the race of the daf¢im those cases.
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SeelLewis, 581 F.3d at 104 (“Although many of the practices advocated in the McMahon tape

flout the principles outlined iBatson the tape was created four years after Lewis’s trial and

fails to provide any information about the routine practices of the particular ptosat
Lewis’s case or the practices actually utilized at Lewis’s trial.”).

Petitioner also seeks to bolster his claim by pointing to an article published by the
University of Pennsylvania’s Journal of Constitutional Law authored by Davigldu8 and

others. SeeBaldus, et al.The Use of Peremptory Challenges in Capital Murder Trialsedal

and Empirical Analysis3 U. Pa. J. Const. L. 3 (200This article discussesjter alia,

discrimination in the use of peremptory challenges.
(d)  Gender Strikes at the Trial and First Penalty Phase Hearing
Petitioner claims that the Commonwealth also executed peremptory strikes in a
discriminatory manner to eliminate females at the 1984 jury selection in violatloB.8f v.

Alabama ex rel. T.B511 U.S. 127, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 12&d. 2d 89 (1994)In support of this

claim, petitioner relies principally on the prosecutor’s alleged strike f@atesales and females.
As with hisBatsonclaim, petitioner’'s numbers are inconsmtevithin his various filingsln his
Petition, he alleges that tipeosecutor used eleven of fourteen peremptory strikes to remove
eleven of twentytwo available female venirepersons (a strike rate of 50%), whereas the
prosecutor used only three strikes to remove three of eighteen available nike fatst of
16.6%)>°

However, in his Memorandum of Law, petitioner alleges that the prosecutor used ten

(rather than eleven) of thirteen (rather than fourteen) strikes to removewbkewever,

56 SeeAmended Petition at {1 124, 125.

57 SeeMemorandum of Law at pages-58.
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petitioner fails to provide a strike rate within the latter figunes,is one calculabledm the
information provided, so | will utilize the more comprehensive figures provided Rdtiion to
analyze his claimPetitioner cites to the prosecutor’s notes from voir dire for the figures
provided in his Memorandum of Law, but provides no sedoc the slightly different figures
provided in hisAmendedPetition.

As discussed above with respect to petitioner’s Batson claim, a strike Efi®0$
hardly enough to establishprima facie case on its own. S&dliams, 637 F.3d at 215.
Petitioner has pointed to no statements made by the prosecutor during voir direvevhiid
purportedly demonstrate a discriminatory motive.

The only additional evidence on which petitioner relies to support this claimesentf
study published by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, which allegedly concludes tleat avem
struck from juries at a higher rate than men in capital cissggpears that the study which
petitioner cites, “Pennsylvania Supreme Court Committee on Racial and Géasler B
in the Judicial System?® involved data collected in 2001, which was Eang after petitioner’s
trial. It is unclear how this information is at all relevant to petitioner’ caseordowly,
petitioner has failed to establish a prima facie case of gendeindization in jury selection at
his 1984 trial.

(e) Racial Strikes at the Second Penalty Phase Hearing

Petitioner alleges that the prosecutor at his second penalty phase hgairngxarcised

peremptory strikes in a discriminatory manriggcause respondents have agreed to remove the

o8 SeeAmended Petition at § 127 n.23. Petitioner also contends that the McMaimimgttape demonstrates
a gender bias in jury selection as well, but that tape is insufficientatiolish a prima facie case for the reasons
already articulated.
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death penalty from this case, it is unnecessary to analyze any racial sttilteesextond penalty
phase hearing.

Therefore, ér the reasons expressed above, petitioiBatsortJ.E.B. claim would be
deniedon the merits even if not forfeiteBecause his underlying claim lacks merit, his former
counsel were not ineffective for failing to pursue it. Accordingly, Claim \deisied.

5. Claim VII: The Trial Court Improperly Death -Qualified the Jury
and Improperly Excluded Prospective Jurors in Violation of Mr.
Marshall’s Rights to an Impartial Jury and Fair Trial.

Petitioner alleges that “the trial court improperly disqualified for cause thmexes pwho
did not indicate that they would not follow the law as set forth by the trial court, andtpreiy
dismissed prospective jurors without adequate opportunity for defense counsel to ré$pond.”

Petitioner contends that this violated his right to an impartial jury that is not “uncommonly

willing to condemn a man to die” in violation of the Sixth AmendmgeeWitherspoon v.

lllinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S. Ct. 1770, 208d. 2d 776 (1968).

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court found that this claim was waived, but the waavsr rul
not an adequate state law gnduvhich would bar federal review, as explained ab&ee
Marshall 11l, 812 A.3d at 543. Nevertheless, the court need not address the merits of this claim
because it has already set aside petitioner’s death sent@mgebias of the jury in favor dhe
death sentence is moot becausedigath sentensehavebeen vacateddccordingly, Claim VII

is dismissed as moot.

59 Amended P#tion at  132.
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6. Claim VIII: The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct by Introducing
Improper Evidence at the Guilt Phase and Making Improper Cl®ing
Arguments, in Violation of Petitioner’s Right to a Fair Trial.

Petitioner challenges several arguments made by the prosecutor during closi
arguments, as well as the presentation of Myndie McKoy’'s mother as asngimgseferences
made to victimsuffering during the guilt phasBetitioner asserts that these actions and
statements by the pecutor constitute misconduct. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court found that
portions of this claim wereaived, but the waiver bar is an inadequate state lawndras
explained aboveseeMarshall Ill, 812 A.2d at 543. However, portions were addrebyetie
Supreme Court on direct app&3hand by the trial court in its decision patitioner's PCRA
claims.Nonetheless, this claim fails on its meots each individual sub issue and on any
assertion of collective harm. Accordingly, former counsatmot ineffective for failing to
pursue it.

Petitioner contends that the following constitute prosecutorial misconduadrii¥sion
of evidence from the medical exarer regarding the amount of pain suffered by Myndi McKoy
from the two stab wounds she received and the statements by the prosecutor about that
painfulness in higuilt phase closing argumei) by presentinghe testimony of Evangeline
McKoy, Myndi McKoy’s mother, and inviting an outburst by Mrs. McKoy in open court after
asking to permit her to remain in the courtroom after her testimony; and (3) nirakirgper
comments during closing arguments by denigrating the role of defense coupsenmissible
appeals to passion or prejudice, vouching for the Commonwealth’s case and imprvoditygi

religious authority. | will address each allegation individually.

60 SeeMarshall | 568 A.2d at 59®8.
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@) Improper Evidence and Closing Arguments on Victim
Suffering.

Petitioner contends that the prosecutor improperly admitted evidence concerning the
degree of pain Myndi McKoy experiencedhen petitioner stabbed her prior to strangling her.
This evidence was admitted by the trial court over defense counsel’s atjeeiitioner
contends that there was no proper purpose for admission of this evidence and waslgomplete
irrelevant to any issue in the ca3éwus, petitioner contends that he did not receive a fair trial.
This portion of Claim VIII seems to infer that the trial court’s admissif the evidence was
improper and appeal counsel should have raised the issue on direct appeal.

The trial court addressed this in its PCRA decision as folfdws:

Dr. Aronson testified that the stab wound defendant
inflicted on Myndi McKoy would be as painful as any stab wound.
He also describethe effects the wound would have on Ms.
McKoy while she was still alive. [Petitioner] states that his
appellate counsel should have argued that this testimony was
inadmissible because it lacked probative value and was prejudicial.
Contrary to [petitioner’s] claims, this evidence did have probative
value. It substantiated part of [petitioner’s confession], it showed
the force and methods defendant used to kill Ms. McKoy, and it
showed defendant’s intent to kill.

[Petitioner] reasons that since this evidence was damaging
to his case he is entitled to PCRA relief. The problem with
[petitioner’s] argument is that “all of the prosecution’s evidence is
intended to ‘prejudice’ the [defense], and simply because it is
damaging to the defense is no reason to exclude the evidence.”
Commonwealth v. Rigler, 488 Pa. 441, 453, 412 A.2d 846, 852
(1980). In addition, the trial court is not “required to sanitize the
trial to eliminate all unpleasant facts from the jury’s
consideration...[.]” Commonwealth v. Wharton, 530 Pa. 127, 147,
607 A.2d 710, 720 (1992). Finally, defendant’s assertion of
prejudice without more is insufficient to warrant relief based on a
theory of ineffective assistance of counsel. Geemmmonwealth v.
Silo, 509 Pa. 406, 411, 502 A.2d 173, 176 (1985); Commonwealth

61 SeeRespondent’s Exhibit 7, Opinion of Glazier, J. at210
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v. Pettus, 492 Pa. 558. 563-564, 424 A.2d 1332, 1335 (1981). This
evidence was properly admitted by the trial court, and as such,
counsel was not ineffective for not challenging its admission on
direct gpeal.
“It is well established that evidentiary errors of state courts are notleoedito be of
constitutional proportion, cognizable in federal habeas corpus proceedings, unless the e

deprives a defendant of fundamental fairness in his criminal trial.” Bisac8iovney General

of the States of New Jerse823 F.2d 307, 312 (3d Cir. 1980). Dowling v. United States, 493

U.S. 342, 352-53, 110 S. Ct. 668, 674, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708, 720 (1990).

The admission of the evidence in this case did not deprive petitioner of the fundamental
fairnessof his trial and provides no basis for federal habeas corpus relief. Contraryitmpgst
assertions, the testimony regarding Myndi McKoy’s injuries was retéeanumerous probative
issues including the extent, force and methods employed by petitioner agaiftst her
demonstrated petitioner’s intent to kill, an element of first degree murder astdrsiidted a
portion of his confession, which he contested at trial.

There isno indication that admission of this testimamthat appeal counsel was
ineffective for failing to challenge its admission on direct appeal wastrary to, or involved an
unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law” or was “basedioreasonable
determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the Stat@maeding.” 28
U.S.C. § 2254(d) (1)-(2). Thus, this portion of Claim VIl is denied.

Next, petitioner contends that the prosecutor “then reminded the jury of the paneduff

by the victims in his guilt phase closing argumé®tPetitioner cites to pages 43 and 51 of the

62 AmendedPetition at § 138.
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trial transcrip®® for this proposition. Respondents contend that this claim is not supported by the
citations to the record. | agree.

The two pages cited by petitioner refer to Myndi McKoy screar{pgg. 43 and 51) and
crying byKarima Saunders (pg. 51). These references are not in conjunction with any pain tha
these victims were experiencing, rather, it refers to aspects of petitioogiéssion wherein he
stated that he had to kill each of them because they were screaming (Myndi)\Mckoying
out for her mother (Karima Saunders). | find no misconduct by the prosecutoirig stat
closing arguments information that was contained in petitioner’s confession. Moreiavemno
ineffectiveness ogprior counsel for failing to raisa meritless claimlohnson, 549 F.3d at 301.
Accordingly, this aspect of Claim VIII is denied.

(b) Misconduct Based on the Outburst by Evangeline McKoy

On PCRA review, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court found the underlying substantive
prosecutorial misconduct portion of this claim waived when petitioner failed toitais direct
appeal. Se#larshall 11l, 812 A.2d at 550 n.2. However, in light of the r&ldxvaiver doctrine
which applied in capital cases in Pennsylvania at the time petitioner filed hisagipeal, the
waiver rule does not constitute an “adequate” state law ground which would prevent federal
review.

Petitioner contends that the prosecummmittedmisconduct by presenting the
testimony of Evangeline McKoy, the mother of Myndi McKay the guilt stage of petitioner’s
trial. Petitioner asserts that although ample other evidence was presedtadifp the body of
Myndi McKoy, the prosecutor chose to present this evidence through her mothesn®etiti

avers that the testimony of Evangeline McKoy was extremely inflammatorgraational.

63 N.T. 8/24/84 at 43, 51.
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Petitioner argues that this testimony was designed to create sympatingy dieceased and its
sole purpose was to inflame the passions of the jury.

Furthermore, petitioner claims that Evangeline McKoy was removed frorhafter her
testimony, and after the prosecutor requested that she be permitted to ls¢agoartroom,
because she interrupted thial proceedings by yellingMurderer, monster. | don’t care.

Monster. That's my only baby. | don’t have no grandchildren or nothing. You didn’t have to Kill
my baby. She wasn’t bothering you. | knew shewas asleep.” N.T. 8/24/84age91, lines 15,

17, 19-21. Petitioner contends that after her testimony, neither the prosecutor, nal toeri
gave her any instruction despite their knowledge that she had made outbuists at pr
proceedingsPetitioner argues that with this prior notice, the prosecutor committed misconduct
by asking for Evangeline McKoy to remain in the courtroom knowing full wellgshatwas

likely to have another outburfetitioner contends that this denied him his Constitutional right
to a fair trial.

Respondents assert that this issue was addressed by the Supreme Court of Rennsylva
in Marshall las a claim of trial error. The Supreme Coutiarshall 11l refused to revisit the
issue after it was repackaged as a prosecutorial misconduct Riespmondents contetidat this
issue is without merit and that the Supreme Cpraperly addressed the matter. Respondents
argue that thadmission of Evangeline McKoy's testimoagd the outburst she had after her
testimonydid not deprive petitioner of fundamental fairngshis trial.l agree.

The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania addressed both the testimony and outburst of
Evangeline McKoy as follows:

[Petitioner] next argues that he was prejudiced when the
mother of Myndigsic] McKoy (one of the victimsinterrupted the

proceedings with an emotional outburst against [petitioner]. He
now argues that this outburst could only be cured by the grant of a
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mistrial. We disagree. The harm caused by such an outburst can be
cured by an immediate curative instruatto the jury.
Commonwealth v. Duffey, 519 Pa. 348, 548 A.2d 1178 (1988).
Here, the trial court immediately cautioned the jury that it should
ignore the outburst and to decide the case exclusively on the
evidence and not on emotion, sympathy or prejudice. Given the
fact that the outburst was brief, occurred only once, and was
followed by anmmediate instruction to the jury, we are satisfied
that any prejudice was diffused and that [petitioner’s] fair trial was
not threatened. The trial court did not abitseliscretion in

refusing the motion for mistriaCommonwealth v. Colsgrb07

Pa. 440, 490 A.2d 811 (1985).

[Petitioner] next argues that Mrs. McKoy should not have
been permitted to testify as her testimony was cumulative. The trial
court found her testimony to be admissible because it tended to
establish that last time her daughter was seen alive, which
consequently helped to establish when the murders were
committed. The trial court also ruled the testimony to be
admissible to establish Myndie’s [sidentity, since Mrs. McKoy
identified her daughter’s body for the police. Whether such
testimony was cumulative was for the trial court to determine, and
we will not reverse that decision absent an abuse of discretion.
None has been demonstrated here and [petitioner’s] contrary
assertions are rejected.

Marshall | 568 A.2d at 596-97. | find no error in the analysis undertaken by the Supreme Court.
| must show deference to its determinatioftse admission of Mrs. McKoy'’s testimony in this
case did not deprive petitioner of the fundamental fairness of his trial and prowgitesis for
federal habeas corpus relief. Contrary to petitioner’s assertions, tineotiegtiid have a proper
purpose as set forth by the Supreme Court. The Commonwealth prosecutor cannot have
committed misconduct by presenting proper evidence.

The Supreme Court’s determination of the issue of Mrs. McKoy’s outburst is also
correct. After the outburst, the trial court immediately gave a curativedtistiu The jury is

presumed to have followed the court’s instructi®eeWeeks v. Angelone, 528 U.S. 225, 234,

120 S. Ct. 727, 733, 145 L. Ed. 2d 727, 738 (2000). Moreoventead in the trial transcript,
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Mrs. McKoytestified in a calm fashion, walked past petitioner on her way to the witla@sk st
and back to the gallery. The prosecutor had given assurances to the court previosks that
would not be disruptive on the witness stand, which by inference he must have discussed her
testimony and conduct with her prior to her testifyiN.T. 8/24/84 at 94. The outburst happened
about five minutes after she sat in the gallery and had nothing to do with anything dwifmos
did at the timeld. In addition, the trial court observed that she testified very calmly, nothing in
particularhappened, then all of a sudden, the court heard a noise, Mrs. McKoy started to cry and
she started to scream, but not outrageoudlyat 9495. The court commented that “[s]he did
scream but | could picture her screaming a lot louddr.at 95.

| find nothing in the record to conclude that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by
asking to let Mrs. McKoy remain in the courtroom after her testimony. Sheamtguetely
appropriately during her testimony, was in close proximity with petitiamgrout making any
comments or outbursts and seemed to just snap for no apparent reason.

Finally, the determination of the Supremeu@af Pennsylvania was neithawntrary to,
or an unreasonable application of, United States Supreme Court precedent. This is borne out

the decision of the Uted Stées Supreme Court in Carey v. Musladin, 549 U.S. 70, 127 S. Ct.

649, 166 L. Ed. 2d 482 (2006). Garey the Supreme Court noted that it had never addressed a
claim that “privateactor courtroom conduct was so ingi&ly prejudicial that it deprived a
defendant of a fair trial.” 549 U.S. at 76, 127 S. Ct. at 653, 166 L. Ed. 2d at 488. The Supreme
Court concluded that its lack of holdings in this area of the law precluded a finding tidi&t a s
court “unreasonably g@bied clearly established federal lald. at 549 U.S. at 77, 127 S. Ct. at

654, 166 L. Ed. 2d at 489 (citing 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2254(d)(1). Accordingly, for all the foregoing

reasons, this aspect of Claim VIII is denied.

-46-



(c) Misconduct Based on Comments by the Prosecutor at Closing
Argument .

Petitioner claims that the prosecutor made numerous improper comments during his
closing argument to the jury at the guilt phase of his tiraladdition, petitioner contends tha
the closing argument was little more than a looselynected series of improper, inflammatory
statements that individually and collectively deprived him of a fair trial.

The United States Supreme Court has held that federal habeas corpus rebef may
granted when “the prosecutorial misconduct may ‘so infect the trial withrne&s as to make

the resulting conviction a denial of due procesGréer v. Miller 483 U.S. 756, 765, 107 S. Ct.

3102, 3109, 97 L. Ed. 2d 618, 630 (1987) (quoting Donnel3eChristoforg 416 U.S. 637,

643 (4 S. Ct. 1868, 1871, 40 L. Ed. 2d 431, 437 (1974). The Supreme Court further stated that
for due process to be offended “the prosecutorial misconduct must be ‘of sufficrefitaige
to result in the denial of the def@ant’s right to a fair trial.1d. (citations omitted). This
determination will at times, require the court to draw a fine line between ordirzmrtor and
conduct so egregious that it amounts to a denial of due prdgesgverts 228 F.3d at 198. In
order to evaluate whether the remarks of a prosecutor rise to the level of auttonati
violation, the court must examine them in the context of the wholelttial.
In Wertsthe Third Circuit discussed the concept of the prosecutor responding to

arguments made by defense counsel in closing arguments as follows:

Viewing the prosecutor’'s remarks during the heat of argument,

counsel may make remarks that are not supported by the testimony

and which are or may be prejudicial to the defendant. USitatis

v. Young, 470 U.S. 1,8 & 10,84 L. Ed. 2d 1, 105 S. Ct. 1038

(1985) gitation omitted). Where in a criminal trial, defense

counsel argues improperly, thereby provoking the prosecutor to

respond in kind, and the trial judge does not take any cmegect

action, a criminal conviction will not be “overturned on the basis
of a prosecutor's comments standing aJdoethe statements or
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conduct must be viewed in context; only by so doing can it be
determined whether the prosecutor’s conduct affectedatireegs

of the trial.”1d. at 11. Thus, in analyzing the effect of the
prosecutor’s remarks on the outcome of the trial, courts will
consider the “invited response” or ‘invited reply” rule, i.e., whether
“defense counsel’s comments ‘clearly invited thdyé&pld.
(quoting_Lawn v. United States, 355 U.S. 339, 359-60 n. 15, 2 L.
Ed. 2d 321, 78 S. Ct. 311 (1958)Thus, “the Court must

consider the probable effect the prosecutor’s response would have
on the jury’s ability to judge the evidence fairly.” 470 U.S. at 12.
This analysis requires the reviewing court to weigh not only the
impact of the prosecutor’s remarks, but also to consider defense
counsel’s statemenid. If the prosecutor’'s comments were
“invited,” and went no further than required to “righe scale”

such remarks would not warrant overturning a conviciehrat

12-13.

228 F.3d at 19®9. It is under this guidance that | analyze the statements made by the
prosecutor in closing arguments.

Initially, petitioner contends that the prosecutor began his argument by telligythe
that the role of the defense counsel is to lie on behalf of his client. The statetitiemigpe
complains of is as follows:

The first thing that | want you to understand is this is an

adversary system. Adversarysggm which means that the two

sides take opposing views. By its mere nature, if | say today is

Tuesday and if we want to have a trial, Mr. McAllister would have

to dispute that.
N.T. 8/28/84 at 40-41Petitioner contends that by this statementptiosecutor informed the
jury that defense counsel has an obligation to lie on behalf of his client and that such an
argument is improper. Respondectsitend that this stateent is taken out of context angs

meant to illustrate the adversarial relatiapdbetween the prosecution and the defense.

Furthermore, respondents argue that read in context, the prosecutor was meoekjimgso the

64 The Court noted that its recognition of the “invited respongke’in Lawn and earlier cases should not be
construed as approval or encouragement of such improper remarks. Ratfiecus should be on “whether the
prosecutor’s ‘invited response’ taken in context, unfairly prejudicediefendant.ld. at 12.
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defense closing argument wherein defense counsel attacked every portion of the
Commonwealth’s case. For the following reasons, | agree with respondenitsdamol f
prosecutorial misconduct.
The remainder of the beginning of the prosecutor’s closing argument went asfollow

If I put on 10 witnesses, Mr. McAllister somehow will argue why

didn’t | put on 20. If | put on one hundred witnesses, his argument

would be probably that the Commonwealth overkilled in its

presentation of its evidence.

If we had videotapes, if we had electronic surveillance

some fault would be found in that. | read recently of an instance of

an an camera bank robbery that an expert was brought in to say the

person shown in the photograph didn’'t have a forehead that fit the

profile of the robber.
Id. at 41.Taking the rest of the first twparagraphs of the prosecutor’s closing argurasra
wholg, it is clear what was attempted was to setftine role of defense counsel. That was not
that he had an obligation to lie, which was never stated, rather, to give a quick and agpropria
indication to the jury whahe adversary system is abdbefensecounsel’s role is to try and put
holes in the Commonwealth’s case and to question everything on behalf of hiddfentse
counsel had just spent his closing argument attemptidg éaactly that by questioninghe
veracity of each witnessestimony,the conductaind veracityof the police and prosecution and
whatevidence and witnesses werat presented by the Commonweafth find no misconduct
by the prosecutor. Moreover, | do not find that the fairness of defendant’s tsial wa
compromised in any way by these statements. Finally, it was proper argumdenthe “invited
reply” rule.Werts supra.

Next, petitioner contends that the following statement by the prosecutor alemgele

counsel constitutes misconduct.

65 SeeN.T. 8/28/84 at 140.
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This case, this tragedy, treimination of three people, one side
you have Mr. McAllister arguing it is orchestrated by the people
you see sitting right here. Do you believe that?

He indicated that there should be something independent to
back up what these men say. | figured he would say something like
that because when in law school a wise old professor who was
about to retire once said, when you have the facts on your side, you
argue the facts. When you have the law on your side you argue the
law. When you have neither you stand up and you point an
accusing finger at someone.

Today Mr. McAllister would have you believe these three
men made it up. Do you believe that?

N.T. 8/28/84at 4142.

A reviewof the complete context in which te&tements by the prosecuteere made,
indicate that the statements were miaddirectresponse to the closing argument made by
defense counselhe prosecutor directly states that it is in response to arguments made by
defense counsel. Again, this is proper “invited replyerts supraln addition, | do not find that
this statement alone or in combination with the prior statements about defense counsel
compromised the fairness of petitioner’s trial in any way, let alone to the lexelonstitutional
due process violation.

Next, petitione contends that in the following statement to the jury during closing
argumentghe prosecutor improperly focused on the discovery of decomposing bodies in
attempt to appeal to their emotiofi$ie relevant portion of the prosecutor’s closing argument is
as follows:

We took you backn a clinical setting, to the smell of decomposing

bodies. We took you back to the shock and horror of removing the
mattress and finding three human beings dead and decomposing,
two 20 year olds and one two and a half year old. The site was not

pretty butthis is what we had to start with and this is in fact what
we started with. We started with three dead bodies.
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Before you, ladies and gentlemen, you see all that remains of three
human beings, Myndi McKoy, the knee length socks, the white

bra, the West @tholic sweatshirt with the name Myndi on the

back. For Sharon Ballard, you see the cords and ligatures taken
from around her neck. For Sharon Karimarlerdsic] you see a

pair of Buster Brown shoes, the clothing she wore.

Other than the Gre&tepression, Herbert Hoover said,
“One other thing that | think comes to play here.” He says, “A
child has two things to be. One is to be a child and the second thing
is to grow up to be a man or womaKd&rima Sanders [sic] does
not have that chan@nd, &dies and gentlemen, that is why | am
standing up here and I'm asking you to do to do you duty, to bring
justice to bear on a person if you believe the withesses and if you
believe that statement.

Now, it is nothing, | can say to minimize the one package that you
don’t have here before you today and that's the sense of loss, but
you are not to be swayed by any sympathy for the victims. You are
not to be swayed by any sense of revenge. I'm not asking you that.

N.T. 8/28/84 at 43, 44-45.

In additon to challenging the statemeattout decomposing bodies, petitioner contends

that the prosecutor’s referencektarima Saunders not having the opportunity to grow up was

especially prejudicial, inflammatory and irrelevant to the question of whpétidoner was

guilty of her murder. Petitioner further contends that it constituted imperheisstim impact

argument offered only to inflame the jury’s emotions, with no relevance or probatue

Respondents contend that what prosecutor said in skeeenents$o the jurywasto

comment on the evidence presented at trial and to point out reasonable inferenclee from t

evidence. Moreover, respondents argue that the prosecutor’s reference to $aumdars never

having the chance to grow up is nottwitimpactevidencel agree with respondents.
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Initially, 1 note that in his closing argument to the jury, defense counsetmetsd the
odor that was in the victim’s home when he stated: “Young Mr. Burley entered ttaepiar
according to his testimonyith his mother seeking to take something from there. His shirt or
some clothing. He was in the apartment for many minutes and all he noticdtevwasit and the
unusual odor.” N.T. 8/28/84 at 16. Thus, the prosecutor referencing the odor of the dgegmpo
bodies was clearly in response to defense counsel making the same referenclesmigis
argument. | find no prejudice to defendant in the prosestating what defense counsel had
already stated. Again, this is proper “invited repMerts supa. Accordingly, this portion of
Claim VIII is denied.

Regarding the prosecutor’s closing statement that Karima Saunders woultianeyéhe
chance to grow up, this statement is not improper victim impact argument. “Victim impact
evidence consists of evidence concerning the victim and the impact thattthefdéa victim

has had on the family of the victim.” Commonwealth v. Bomar, 473 Pa. 426, 457, 826 A.2d 831,

850 (2003) (citing 42 Pa.C.S.A. 8 9711(a)(2); Commonwealth v. McNeil, 545 Pa. 42, 55-6, 679

A.2d 1253, 1259-60 (1996). Also, in Payne v. Unitéaté 501 U.S. 808, 131 S. Ct. 2597, 115

L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991}he United States Supreme Court noted that victim impact evidence “is
designed to show each victim’s ‘uniqueness as an individual human being.” 501 U.S. at 823,
131 S. Ct. at 2607, 115 L. Ed. 2d at 734.

Here, the prosecutor did not comment about the victim’s character or her usgasne
human being. Moreover, the prosecutor’s remark did not speak to the effecviatithes death
on her family. Thus, contrary to petitioner’s assertlmgnclude that this statement did not
constitute improper victim impact argument. Accordingly this portion of Claim Vllsis a

denied.
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The petitioner further objects to the prosecutor’s use of the word “nightinaties
following context:

| don’t want you to equivocate and all we want is justice. All we
want is first degree murder for if in your heart of hearts you can
think or have a nightmare about what kind of person that could do
this to three people, at different times using different methods,
using different types of ties, different types of ligatures, the search
and the watching of life go out of their body....

N.T. 8/28/84 at 53. Petitioner contends that the prosecutor incited jurors’ fears and |ath app
to passion and prejudice are clgarhproper. Respondents contend that the prosecutor was
arguing for a first degree murder verdict rather than some lesser cors@rétaspondents argue
that defense counsel hadaracterized the Commonwealth’s evidence as a “spurned lover’'s
case®® and considering the apparent motive for the murder of Sharon Ballard contained in
petitioner’s confession, the possibility that the jury would conclude that petitotest out of
passion was reasonable. Respondents further contend that the statement was proper and
constituted an aside that any thought of the doer of these deeds is in efféttreraglt was the
deeds that were condemned as a nightpmaxiepetitioner, personally.
On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Penasydvanalyzed this statement as follows:

It seems to us that the prosecutor was referring to the type of

person that would commit such terrible crimes and we cannot say

thatthe unavoidable effect of this isolatelthracterizatiomvas to

prejudice the jurygainst [petitioner].

There was no question that the crimes were grizzly and that

a prosecutor would refer to these facts during closing and ask the

jury to keep these facts in mind when it decided whether a verdict

of murder of the first degree was appriate. It was in this context

that the prosecutor referred to the type of person that committed

such acts and, because the reference is linked to the evidence

presented in the case, we are satisfied that any reference to

[petitioner] was not unduly prejudicial nor did it fix a bias or
hostility against him that made it impossible for the jury to weigh

66 N.T. 8/28/84 at 14.
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the evidence objectively and render a true verdict. We detect no

such prejudice here, especially where the trial court in its charge

made sure to advisedljury to determine the guilt or innocence of

the accused based on the evidence and not on any extraneous

factors.
Marshall | 568 A.2d at 5988 (citations omitted).find no error in the analysis undertaken by
the Supreme Court and show deference to its determinations. The prosecutor wasdoermitt
make argument based upon the facts in evidence and the reasonable inferencas thEheir®
is no prosecutorial misconduct in these statements made by the prosecutor, menbugh
misconduct that wouldso infect the trial withunfairness as to make the resulting conviction a
denial of due processGreer 483 U.S. at 765, 107 S. Ct. at 3109, 97 L. Ed. 2d at 630.
Moreover, there is no indication that the decision of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania
regarding this statement at closing argument was “contrary to, or invaiuatr@asonable
application of, clearly established Federal law” or was “based on an unreasatabigrhtion
of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.”.€8 82254(d)
(2)-(2). Petitioner’s claim fag under the AEDPA standard. Accordingdlyis portion of Claim
VIIl is denied.

Next, petitioner contends that the prosecutor in his closing argument engaged in improper
vouching when he assured the jury that he and the police had not fabricated petitioner’
confession.

A prosecutor’s expression of personal opinion about the
credibility of witnesses or the guilt of a defendant creates a risk
that the jury will ‘trust the Governments judgment rather than its
own view of the evidence.” United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1,
18-19, 84 L. Ed. 2d 1, 105 S. Ct. 1038 (1985). However, the fact
that a prosecutor made improper statements is insufficient, by
itself, to require a new trial. To obtain such relief, a defendant must
also demonstrate that the prosecutor’s improper statements

prejudiced his defens8eeUnited States v. Gross, 961 F.2d 1097,
1108 (3d Cir. 1992) (citintynited States v. Swinehafl17 F.2d
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336, 339 (3d Cir. 1980)yert.denied506 U.S. 965 (1992). In
examining whether the prosecutor’s statements prejudiced the
defense, our precedents have considered whether the comments
suggested that the prosecutor had knowledge of evidence other
than that which was presented to the j@geid.

Buehl v. Vaughn, 166 F.3d 163, 176 (3d Cir. 199@titioner argues that thiassurance” to the

jury that “we” had not fabricated petitioner’s confession suggested to the jutii¢harosecutor
was personallpaware of the validity of the confession, based upon evidence not presented to the
jury.

Petitioner further contends that at the end of his closing argument, the prosea#dr pla
his personal caibility before the jury. Finally, petitioner asserts that gnosecutor also
improperly discussed sentencing issues at the guilt stage of petitioradr’s tr

Respondents argue that the prosecutor properly responded to defense counsel’s closing
argument that the evidence against petitioner, including his confession, waddddnicthe
Commonwealth and that he was framed for the murders. Respondents contend that defense
counsel’s closing argument included attacks on the integrity of the prosecutogditalm
examiner and thegtice. Thus, respondents asdedt the statement in closing argument refuting
those allegations in defense counsel’s closing argument was proper.

In addition, respondents contend that the prosecutor did not place his persdiflity
before the jury. Rather, the prosecutor simply suggested what the jury viasdikenclude
after independently reviewing the evidence, including petitioner’'s confessspoRdents
assert that there was nothing improper about arguing what conclusions should bearatie f
evidence and askingffa first degree murder verdidiinally, respondents deny that the
prosecutor injected sentencing issues into his guilt phase closing arguments.

The statemestthat petitioner complains of aees follows:
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Now, Mr. McAllister argues that this isfabricated
statement. If we were constructing a frame, tgau think hat the
good Doctor Aronson would have been in on the frame? Do you
think if this was a frame that Doctor Aronson couldn’t say |
ordered acid phosphotase test and that would show sexoal
activity?

Myndi was in the other room, the other bedroom, the baby
was asleep at the [foot] of the bed. After the sex Sharon fell asleep.

| would submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, that there is
facts in this particular statement and | will 3ski to believe that
only the killer knew.

N.T. 8/28/84 at 47. The word that petitioner contends is improper is the word “we”. Petitioner
further contends that use of the word “we” later in his argument is also improper.

Ladies and gentlemen, the Commoaitte will make your
job easier and not like the selbrrecting typewriters, not like the
calculators that they hand out now in high school to help you solve
problems. We'll solve it for you. We will demand that you return
one verdict and one verdict alone, guilty of muridethe first
degree.

Enough words been said, enough of the illusion that
somehow Jerome Marshall is persecuted. We're not prosecuting
out of any sense of revenge. We’'re prosecuting him out of a sense
we can’t live with his activity. Wean't live with the activity
where two and a half year old is killed because they cry, that a 20
year old is killed because she screamed, that a 20 year old is killed
because she made a choice to marry someone else.

Id. at 5051. Additionally, petitione complains of the following statement.

| would submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, in closing, |
could stand here and look at the victims, have vivid recollections
of what they were and | only could shed tears but that wouldn’t
help now. The only thing that will help you, the buck stops here.
All here and now. It’s for you to bring to bear all of those things,
all of those things that are good, all of those things that are fair, all
of those things that are just and in bringing to bear all of those
things here in this courtroom, not on the street corner, on the living
room, in a living room or your rec room where you might have
been, now. They are you and | want you to come back in here,
ladies and gentlemen, after the charge and | want you to stand up
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ard look him in the eye, show more courage than he did when he
snuffed out the life of the two and a half year old and he says in his
statement and he tells you I couldn’t look. Look him in the eye and
announce your verdict of guilty of murder in the firegcee and |
will assure you if you do that, you would have done justice and
after you have done justice | hope to be standing up here again at
another proceeding making another statementtaimw you
should do complete justice and | want you to look at him and |
want you to look at him for what he is amtiat [sic] he is not the
figment of this detective’s imagination or that detective’s
imagination or even Lieutenant Shelton’s imagination.

Id. at 5253.

In the first passage, the reference to the word “we” was not improper vouRhthegr, it
reflected the prosecutor’s reply to defense counsel’s attacks on him, the police AnohBon
in an attempt to rebut defense counsel’'s argument that petitioner’s confessiabricated by
the CommonwealtHt was propefinvited reply”, Werts supra, not improper vouching as
alleged by petitioneMoreover, | find that there was no prejudice to petitioner in this statement.
The jury could have clearly understoibd context of this statement, there is no fikeas or
hostility toward petitioner in the statememhe prosecutor did not infer that he had knowledge
of any evidence that was beyond that presented to the jury. Buehl, supra.

| conclude that this statement does not create any possibility that thestaof
petitioner’s trial was compromised in any way by this statement, let alonedmgmjous
enoughto rise to the level of a Constitutional violatioAccordingly, this portion of Claim VIII
is denied.

The second passaglso includes the word “we”. It is again proper argument, in part
arguing the facts as set forth in petitioner’s confession. The “we” spokerhef is t

Commonwealth as borne out in the first line of the passage. The statement sguesig¢hat

the juryreturn a verdict of guilty ba&sl upon the facts of the case. | find nothing improper about
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this statement and it is not improper vouching as alleged by petitlbdees not imply that the
prosecutor was in possession of evidence that was not already before the jurysiguehl
Furthermore, this passage is proper “invited reply” to dispel defense coumgetiseat that
petitioner’s confession was fabricat&derts supra. Again, | find no prejudice to petitioner and
this statement clearly does not rise to the level of egregiousness to implicatgtituGCamal
violation. Accordingly, this portion of Claim VIII is denied.

The final passage cited above implicates $@parate claims by petitioner. First,
petitioner contends that the prosecutpected his personal credibility before the jury by stating
“I will assure you if you do that, you would have done justice”. Here, | concluteetidoner
takes this statement out of the context it was given.

The contexthe statement was given wae tprosecutor asking the jury to do its job and
look at the evidencdéie made an analogy to petitioner’s confession where petitioner stated that
he could not look at Karima Saunders when he killed her. The prosecutor simply asks the jury t
do what petitioer could not, look petitioner in the eye when they come back wighdict of
guilty. This is not putting the prosecutor’s credibility at issue.

The prosecutor did not imply that he had evidence outside that before the jury. Buehl,
supra. Moreover, there is no prejudice to petitioner by this statement, certaitdyamot
egregious level to constitute a Constitutional violation. Accordingly, this portioteoh®Il1l is
denied.

The second portion of the last passage that petitioner contests is that the prosecut
improperly injected sentencing issues into the guilt phase of the trial by stedtrite wald
soon be before them agairhat is an incorrect statentesf what the prosecutor saithe

prosecutor stated “after you have done judtivepe to be standing up here agairat another
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proceeding making another statement about how you should do complete justice....” N.T.
8/29/84 at 53 (emphasis added).

This statement does not state or imply that the prosewotdd betalking to them again
at another proceeding (presumably setiteg) as argued by petitioner. Rather, it states a hope
that he will bebefore the jury again. The hope the prosecutor spoke ahatthe jury will
convict petitioner of the crime#.is na improper for a prosecutor to hope that the jury will
convict when that is exactly what he was asking to jury tadéamplied that the evidence
supporté a conviction in this matteThat is proper closing argument.

This statement is not prejudicial defendant. | do not find that this statement alone, or in
combination with the prior statements alleged to be improper vouching comprohedadriess
of petitioner’s trial in any way, let alone to the level of a Constitutional due g ataation.
Accordingly, this aspect of Claim VIII is denied.

Finally, petitioner contends that three sepastdéements by the prosecutor during
closing arguments were improper. Two of the statements had a religious connataterfirst
statementthe prosecutor paraphrased scripfure:

| would submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, that there is
facts in this particular statement and | will ask you to believe that
only the killer knew.

A lot of things had been working on my mind. It was like
she was a witch. Shead just told me that | would have to leave
because the guy was coming back from the Army. It’s just a lot of
things but while she was sleeping | got this clothes line.

Now, the Judge will charge you on voluntary manslaughter.
Voluntary manslaughter islkalling of another human being in the
heat of passion and with sufficient provocation brought on by the
dead person, and he’ll tell you mere words, mere touching or a

mere insulting is not in the eyes of the law sufficient provocation.
He will further tellyou if there is provocation without passion, you

67 Matthew, Chapter 25, Verse 40.
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don’t have manslaughter and if you have provocation, if yoe ha
passion and not provocation, that is not manslaughter.

| would ask you what could a sleeping person do if you
believe this to inspire Mr. Marshall to go to the kitchen area, to
search out a means to bring about her death. To put the ligature
around her neck and put it tight until she was deaauld ask
you and it is written, whatever you do to the least of thine
brethren you do to me.I'll ask you who are the least of these.

Could it be a 20 year old who is laying there asleep? Could
it be a two and a half year old who only cried for her Mother.
Could it be another 20 year old who woke up in the middle of what
happened and as Mr. Maall said if you believe the statemgent

N.T. 8/28/84 at 48 (emphasis added).

The second reference was a combination of principles espoused by Dr. Martin Luther

King and a reference to Christ as follows:

Id. at52.

In closing, ladies and gentlemen, | would ask yothe

words of Doctor King and letters from a Birmingham jail, you say
that our actions speaksic] at violence. Isn’t this what Jerome
Marshall is saying about Sharon Ballard, Myndi McKoy and
Karima Sanders [sic]? And Doctor King added, isn'’t this like
condemning a rich man for having made it when the robber takes
it? Isn’t it like condemning Socrates for his unswerving search for
truth or isn't it like condemning Christ for the act of crucifixion.

The thirdstatementuestions what kind ashanpetitioner is:

Mr. McAllister in his humane plea to the ladies and gentlemen of
the jury omitted the last line of the statement [that petitioner gave
to the police] and | ask you to ask yourselfat kind of man is
Jerome Marshall or is he a man at allwvhen he answers this
guestion. Question, is there anything else you wish to add to this
interview?

Answer, yes, I'm glad it’s over.

Is he talking about the running. The dodging of the police,
the inability to pick up his welfare check? | feel a lot better now
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that | told somebody about what happened that day and got the
whole thing out in the open. See, this would not ever have
happened if Sharon hadn’'t had been the person that she was. She
just wanted to se me and take my money.

N.T. 8/28/84 at 51gmphasis added).

Petitioner contends that the two religious comments are not proper closingeatguna
relies on a number of cases from other circtfitdone of these cases are particularly helpful to
petitioner because they all involve religious references made during theygerese and
involve biblical references that implore the jury to follow God’s law and impose #ik de
penalty or to not show éhdefendant meycbased on biblical teachings. We do not have that
situation here, thus, | find petitioner’s reliance on these cases misplacexbvdr, | note that
petitioner makes no argument at all what is improper about the prosecutor’'s cornougntheat
kind of man Mr. Marshall is. Petitioner simply states that it is improper.

Respondents argue that the first comment, “I would ask you and it is writteeyvehat
you do to the least of thine brethren you do to me”, is taken out of context. Respondents contend
that taken in context, what the prosecutor stated was a fair response togr&ititaim that he
was somehow provoked by the sleeping victims and acted in the heat of passion. Respondents
further contend that the prosecutor was merely agguwith a degree of oratoricechnique,
that it would be absurd to conclude that petitioner’s viciousveets“provoked” by the most
vulnerable of people, two sleeping women and a sleeping toddler.

As noted abovehe prosecutorial misconduct must ‘isgect the trial with unfairness as

to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process” and that for due process¢ndbedof

“the prosecutorial misconduct must be of sufficient significance to restieidenial of the

68 SeeRomine v. Head?253 F.3d 1349 (#1Cir. 2001);Sandoval v. Calderer241 F.3d 765 (9Cir. 2000);
Cunningham v. Zan©®28 F.2d 1006 (#1Cir. 1991); and Cobb Wainwright 609 F.2d 754 (5Cir. 1980).

-61-




defendant’s right to a iiatrial.” Greer 483 U.S. at 765, 107 S. Ct. at 3109, 97 L. Ed. 2d at 630.
This requires the court to draw a fine line between ordinary trial error and ¢@adegregious
that it amounts to a denial of due proceSeeWerts 228 F.3d at 198. In order to evaluate
whether the remarks of a prosecutor rise to the level of a constitutionaiorptate court must
examine them in the context of the whole tridl.

Here at most, this comment by the prosecutor might constitute ordinary’®agree
with respondents that this comment is in response to petitioner’s claim that henvedse/
provoked by the victims, but it may take argument by couosis limit. However, | conclude
that in the context of the whole trial and taking into account that while the statement does
paraphrase a biblical passage, the prosecutor did not specificatignmed the passagelssng
from the Bble and this fleeting reference taken ie ttontext of the whole trial, together witie
instructions given by the trial court during its charge to the jury do not ribe tewtel of a
constitutional due process violation. Accordingly, | deny this portion of Claim VIl

Next, the second religious comment made by the prosecutor was reviewed by the
Supreme Court as follows:

[Petitioner] next refers to the prosecutor’s alluding to Jesus Christ
in his closing. In speaking about [petitioner’s] confession, the
prosecutor noted that [petitioner] told the police that he would not
have killed his victirs, if Sharon hadn’t been the person she was.
“She just wanted to use me and take my money.” The prosecutor
answered [petitioner’s] justification for killing three people as
follows: “. . . isn't this like condemning a rich man for having
made it when theobber takes it? Isn’t it like condemning Socrates
for his unswerving search for truth or isn’t it like condemning

Christ for the act of crucifixion.” Taken in context, this statement
is an ironic reply to [petitioner’s] attempt, in his confession, to

69 I note that in Commonwealth v. Chamhe328 Pa. 558, 599 A.2d 630 (Pa. 1991), the Supreme Court of
Pennsylvania held that references to the Bible or any other religiitirsy in support of the death penalty during
the penalty phase of trial is per se reversible error and may subject #tendoldisciplinary action. 528 Pa. at 586,
500 A.2d at 644. The reference to the biblical passage in this case did not comgehdupenalty phasendwas
seven years prior to the Supreme Court’s decisi@hambers
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shift blame to the victim for her death. We do not view the
prosecutor’s reference to these figures as anything other than
rhetoric meant to dispel [petitioner’s] attempt at-gedtification.
Such an argument does not create a fixed bias or hostility toward
[petitioner] and therefore is not a ground for a new trial.

Marshall | 568 A.2d at 597.

The Supreme Court’s detrination that this claim faileas not “contrary to, or involved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law” dbasesd on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented irerm6ta
proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) (®). Furthermore, | agree with the Supreme Court that this
comment is in response to petitioner’s claim thatvhe somehow provoked by the victims. This
reference taken in the context of the whole trial, together with the instrsigfioen by the trial
court during its charge to the jury do not rise to the level of a constitutional due process
violation. Therefore under the deference that must be afforded under the AEDPA statidard,
portion of Claim VIII is denied.

In the third statement that petitioner contends constitutes prosecutorial migcameluc
prosecutor questioned what kind of man, if any, petitioner was. As noted above, petitioreer make

no argument why this statement is of such magnitude that it constitutes a due yiodagss.

Generally, bald assertions and conclusory allegations of a constitutionabwialatnot provide

sufficient grounds fohabeas relief. Seéettlemoyer v. Fulcomer, 923 F.2d 284 (3d Cir. 1991);

SeealsoMayberry v. Petsock, 821 F.2d 179 (3d Cir. 1987).

Respondents contettidat this statement was in response to petitioner’s failure to take
responsibility for his actions, which he attempted to blame on decedent Sharod. Batjaee.

Moreover, | do not find that this statement alone, or in combination with the three prior
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statementscompromised the fairness of petitioner’s trial in any way, let alone to the leael of
Constitutional due process violation. Accordingly, this aspect of Claim Vdiised.

Finally, petitioner contends thhis prior counsel were ineffective for failing to raise
some of the statements by the prosecutor in closing argument on direct afeRlfoappeal.
Counsel will not be found ineffective for failing to present an unmeritorious claim artioloje

Johnson v. Tennis, 549 F.3d 296, 301 (3d Cir. 2008). Because counsel cannot be ineffective for

failing to raise issues that have no merit, and | have found thatth# édregoing statements
complained of in Claim VIII are without merit, | deny this aspect of Clainh. VII
Moreover, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania ruled that the ineffective rssista

counsel claims were waived because petitioner failed to adequately develop thierorief on

PCRA appeal citinCommonwealth v. Bracey, 568 Pa. 264, 795 A.2d 935 (Pa. 2001) as
authority for that propositio® SeeMarshall 1ll, 812 A.2d at 544 n. 2. The Third Circuit has
recently ruledhatfailure to meaningfully develop a claim and support it with legal authority is
an independent and adequate state law ground thest gse to procedural default. Sezake v.
Dillman, 594 Fed. Appx. 756, 758-59 (3d Cir. 2014). Thus petitioner’s ineffective assistance of

counsel claims contained in Claim VIII are procedurally defaulted.

70 In Marshall 1ll, the Suprem€ourt of Pennsylvania stated:

At the end of his argument relating to several of these waived claims,
[petitioner] tacks on a bald and conclusory allegation that prior coumsel w
ineffective for failing to raise and/or properly litigate the underhdlagms of
error. Then, in his twentfifth issue on appeal to this Court, [petitioner] alleges,
again in a bald and cursory fashion, that all prior counsel were ineffeative f
failing to raise and/or properly litigate the various issues includedin hi
appellate brief. This Court has previously held that such an undeveloped
argument, which fails to at any point meaningfully discuss and apply the
standard governing the review of ineffectiveness claims, simplyradesatisfy
[petitioner’s] burden of establishing that he is entitled to relief undeP @RA.
SeeCommonwealth v. Bracep68 Pa. 264, 795 A.2d 935, 940 n. 4 (Pa. 2001)
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Petitioner may salvage his default if he can leisth cause and prejudicklurray v.
Carrier, 477 U.S. at 488, 106 S. Ct. at 2645, 91 L. Ed. 2d atH&®, he cannot establish cause

because the ineffectiveness of PC&#pealcounsel is not cause unddartinez Davila, supra.

Also, the“ineffectiveness or incompetence of counsel during federal or State colfatstal
conviction proceedings shall not be a ground for relief in a proceeding arising uctdar se
2254.” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2254(i).

Finally, petitioner has made no effort to produesv, reliable evidence of actual
innocence to cercome his procedural defaulius, the miscarriage of justice exception does
not apply. Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 321-22, 115 S. Ct. 851, 864-65, 130 L. Ed. 2d 808, 832
(1995).

7. Claim XllI: An Adeq uate Record of the Trial Was Not Prepared
and/or Was Not Provided to Petitioner’'s Counsel, Depriving Him of
His Rights to Meaningful Appellate Review, the Effective Assistance
of Appellate and Post-Conviction Counsel, and Full and Fair
Adjudication of His Post-Conviction Claims.

Petitioneralleges thahe was deprived of his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendments because trial record is incomplet8pecifically, he complains that
some side bar discussions were not recorded, and that there is not a transcripttefiben
session of voir dire from July 23, 1990. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court denied this claim on
PCRA review because it found that petitioner:

fail[ed] to raise any potentially meritorious challenge that [could
not] be adequately reviewed duehe absence of a record of the
sidebar discussions from his trial and/or the transcript from the
alleged voir dire session on the afternoon of July 23, 1990.

Marshall 11, 812 A.2d at 551. This conclusion is not contrary to, nor an unreasonable application

of, federal law.
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The Third Circuit has explained that, although “a criminal defendant hagtheaian
adeaiate review of his conviction ... neither the Supreme Court, nor our Court, has held that due
process requires a verbatim transcript of the entire proceedings or thatraplateaecord
confers autmatic entitlement to reliefFahy v. Horn, 516 F.3d 169, 190 (3d Cir. 2008).

In order to establish a claim for relief based on the insufficiency ofiliedcord, “a
criminal defendant musirst show a ‘colorable need’ for a complete transcript before the state
must meet its burden of showing tlsaimething less will suffice Id. (quoting Karabin v.

Petsock 758 F.2d 966, 969 (3d Cir. 1985)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Petitioner has not
articulated how the alleged insufficiency of the record prejudiced his appeNate/, and no
prejudice is apparent.

Petitioner has pointed to no meritorious claim he might raise arising out of same err
that would be reflected by allegedly migsgrecords of side bar discussioWith respect to the
allegedly missing transcript of the afternoon session of voir dire from July 23, 1990, the only
apparent claim petitioner might have would be an obstacle to presentBatsigiclaim, which
was digussed abovéiowever, as | have already concluded, petitioner forfeited this claim by
failing to raise a contaporaneous objection at trial. In addition, this portion of Claim XIIlI is
moot because respondents have agreed to vacate petitioner's death sentencea@rabek
the death penalty on resentencigcordingly, the present claim moot but alsdails on its
merits.

Moreover, even if petitioner had not forfeited Batsonclaim, the alleged lack of a

verbatim transcript from haH-day of wir dire is insufficient to establish a claim for relief based

on the allged insufficiency of the record\s already discussed, petitioneBatsonclaim with

respect to his 1990 penalty phase retrial is now nfamordingly, the lack of a verbatim

-66-



transcript of a portion of the voir dire from that proceeding has not prejudiceespeaially
because respondents have agreed not to seek any death sentence in this casengoon rema
Furthermore, it is unclear that a verbatim transcript would be the only wayottsteet the
requisite evidencepetitioner alleged in his Petition the races of those venirepersons that were
allegedly peremptily struck by the prosecutor. Hence, that information must have been
available elsewheré&or all of the foregoingeasons, the state court’s conclusion regarding this
claim was not contrary to, nor an unreasonable application of, federaldaardingly, Claim
X1l is denied.
8. Count XXIII: All Prior Counsel Were Ineffective for Failing to Raise
and/or Properly Litigate the Issues Presented in These Collateral
Proceedings

Petitioner contends thaial and direct appeal counsel (Attorney McAllister) was
ineffective for failing to preserve any of the claims set forth in his petfetitioner further
contends that penalty phase retrial and appellate counsel (At®iegsl) was also ineffective.
The effectiveness of Attorney Siegel is moot because respondents have agridedtaonwthe
death penalty in this caseetitioner contends PCRA counsel and PCRA appeal counsel
(Attorney Bruno) was also ineffective.

Issues ofrial counsel’sneffectiveness have been addressed throughout this Opinion in
conjunction with each of petitioner’s substantive claims. | have found no ineffeesy@n the
part of any counsel, so there can be no cumulative effect of counsel’s ineffesgividioeeover,
many ofpetitioner’sineffectiveness of counsel claims were procedurally defaulted as described
in Count VIII. Finally, the ineffectiveness of PCRA and PCRA appeal counsel &sground

for relief in a federal habeas corpus proceeding. 28 U.S.C. § 2254(i).| ieesl not address

this claim separatelyAccordingly, Claim XXIII is denied.
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9. Claim XXIV: Petitioner is Entitled to Relief From His Conviction
and SentenceBecause of the Cumulative Effect of the Errors
Described in This Petition

Each ofpetitioner’s individual claims have been addressed within this Opifia.
portion of this claim that petitioner’s convictions should be vacated because of cumeraiige
fails because each of his individual claims fail.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court addressed petitioner’'s cumulativelaimoas

follows:

Finally, [petitioner] argues that even if this Court finds that he is
not entitled to relief based on any of his particular claims, we
should nevertheless find that he is entitled to relief bedhease
cumulative effect of the errors described in his appeal was to deny
him a fair trial. As this Court has stated before, however, “no
number of failed claims may collectively attain merit if they could
not do so individually.”Commonwealth v. Williams932 Pa. 265,
278, 615 A.2d 716, 722 (1992). As none of [petitioner’s] claims on
appeal to this Court afford him pastnviction relief, we affirm

the PCRA court’s order denying relief.

Marshall 111, 812 A.2d at 552.
“The cumulative error doctrine allovespetitioner to present a standalone claim asserting
the cumulative effect of errors at trial that so undermined the verdict as tautersdenial of

due process.Collins v. Sec'y of the Pa. Dep’t of Corr., 742 F.3d 528, 542 (3d Cir. 2014)

(citation omitted).The Third Circuit has further stated:

Individual errors that do not entitle a petitioner to relief
may do so when combined, if cumulatively the prejudice resulting
from them undermined the fundamental fairness of his trial and
denied him his castitutional right to due process. Cumulative
errors are not harmless if they had a substantial and injurious effect
or influence in determining the jury’s verdict, which means that a
habeas petitioner is not entitled to relief bagedumulative errors
unless he can establish actual prejudice.
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Fahy, 516 F.3d at 205 (internal quotation marks omitted) (citations omitted). Here, Icduanck f
no errors. Because there are no errors, | cannot find that there are cwerartatis that would
rise to the level bundermining the fundamental fairness of petiticaial rising to the level of
a due process violation.

Moreover, there is no indication that the decision of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania
regarding this claim was “contrary to, or involved aneasionable application of, clearly
established Federal law” or was “based on an unreasonable determinatioraofslie light of
the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2254(d) (1)-(2). Hence,
Petitioner’s claim must fail undéine AEDPA standard.

Finally, the argumenthat his death sentence for the murders of Myndie McKoy and
Karima Saundershould be vacated based on cumulative errors is moot becaussehieses
have been vacatdiy agreement of respondents. Accordingligi@ XXIV is denied in part and
denied as moot in part.

10. Claims XXVI, XXVII, XXVIII, XXX, XXXI, XXXIl and XXXIII are
Time-Barred.

(@) The AEDPA Statute of Limitations.

The AEDPA, enacted on April 24, 1996, imposes a one year period of limitations
(“AEDPA year”) for habeas corpus petitions. The time period begins to run fhatest of the
following:

(A) the date on which the judgment became final by the conclusion
of direct review or the expiration of the time for seeking such
review;

(B) the date on which the impediment to filing an application
created by State action in violation of the Constitution or laws of

the United States is removed, if the applicant was prevented from
filing by such State action;
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(C) the date on which the constitutibmight was initially
recognized by the Supreme Court, if the right has been newly
recognized by the Supreme Court and made retroactively
applicable to cases on collateral review; or

(D) the date on which the factual predicate of the claim or claims
could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence.

28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(A)-(D). Because petitioner’s judgment became final befar@#pr
1996, petitioner had a one-year grace period from that date, until April 23, 1997, in which to

timely raise claims under the AEDPA. Seeuglas vHorn, 359 F.3d 257, 261 (3d Cir. 2004).

The Third Circuit has held that the starting date for the habeas period ofitinstatust be

determined separately for each cognizable claim contained in the p&#goRielder v. Varner,
379 F.3d 113, 117-18 (3d Cir. 2004).

On May 24, 1994, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania affirmed the judgment of sentence
for petitioner's murder of Karima Saunders after penalty phase regtdloRer did not seek
certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. Thus, the judgment on Petitioner’s conviction
became final on August 22, 1994, upon expiration of the ninety-day period for seeking
certiorari. SeeU.S. Sup. Ct. R. 13(1). Claims XXVI, XXVII, XXVIII, XXX, XXXI, XXXII and
XXXI 1l were not filed until well after petitionerAEDPA year expired, therefore, unless
grounds for statutory or equitable tolling can be demonstrated, these grounds disistissed.

(b) Statutory Tolling.

Statutory tolling provisions state that: "[t|he time that a properly filed applic&tiostate
postconviction or other collateral relief with respect to the pertinent judgment or claim is
pending shall not be counted toward any period of limitation under this section.” 28 U.S.C. 8
2244(d)(2). A properly filed application for state collateral relief is onengitdd in compliance

with the applicable rules governing filings such as the form of the do¢uthertime limits on
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filing, the court and officen which it must be filed and the requisite filing féégrtuz v.

Bennett 531 U.S. 4, 121 S. Ct. 361, 148 L. Ed. 2d 213 (2000). Answering a question left open in
Artuz, the United States Supreme Court later explained that, despite exceptiongnelthe

filing requirement, an untimely PCRA petition is not "properly filed" anchoastatutorily toll

the federal habeas period of limitatioRace v. DiGuglielmp544 U.S. 408, 125 S. Ct. 1807,

161 L. Ed. 2d 669 (2005).

Statutory tolling does not save petitioner’s untimely claims. Petitioner did file bytime
PCRA petition on November 16, 1996; by then 206 days of his AEDPA year had expired,
leaving 159 days. Statutory tolling ceased on December 18, 2002 when the Remasylv

Supreme Court denied his PCRA app8&8aleLawrence v. Florida, 549 U.S. 327, 127 S. Ct.

1079, 166 L. Ed. 2d 924 (2007) (holding that statutory tolling ceases upon the state’s highest
court denying review and does not include the time to saélorari in state collateral
proceedings). The remaining 159 days expired on May 26, 2003. Hence, Petitioner'smew cla
contained in his motion to vacate, set aside or correct sentence filed April 22y@@lfied
nearly 12 years too late.
(c) Equitable Tolling.
Equitable tolling is available “only when the principle of equity would make tieb rig

application of a limitation period unfair.” Merritt v. Blain826 F.3d 137, 168 (3d Cir. 2003)

(internal quotations omitted). Courts should be sparing when applying this doca@eva v.
Kyler, 398 F.3d 271, 275 (3d Cir. 2005). The general requirements for equitable tolling are: (1)

Petitioner’s diligence in pursuing his rights, and (2) the existence of extrapraiircumstances

that prevented timely filingHolland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 177 L. Ed. 2d

™t The Supreme Court initially declined to decide whether the existence ofierseap a timely filing requirement
can prevent a late application from being considered improperly Aiféaz, 531 U.S. at 8 n 2.
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130 (2010). Petitioner bears the burden of proving both requirements. Urcinoli v. Cathel, 546

F.3d 269, 273 (3d Cir. 2008).

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate either his diligence or that extraordinary
circumstances exist to justify his failure to submit Claixd/I, XXVII, XXVIII, XXX, XXXI,
XXXl and XXXIII prior to the expiration of his AEDPA year. In fact petitioner makes no
argument on these points at all. Furthermore, petitioner makes no argument thatasg of
claims relate back to any claim raised in his original 25 claims. | find that Petitiaserot
established he diligently pursued his rights or that extraargicircumstances prevented timely
filing. It is his burden to establish both, hence, | cannot equitably toll his AERBA Mrcinoli,
546 F.3d at 273. Accordingly, ClaimXVI, XXVII, XXVIII, XXX, XXXI, XXXII and
XXXIII are timebarred.

VI. CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY

Pursuant to the Third Circuit Local Appellate Rules, “[a]t the time a final aleleying a
petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2244 or § 2255 is issued, the district judge will make a determination
as to whether a certificate of appealabilityddssue.” 3d Cir. L.A.R. 22.2 (2011). The court
shall issue a certificate of appealability “only if the applicant has madestastial showing of
the denial of a constitutional right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2).

| find that jurists of reason would nobntest the detenmation that petitioner’s habeas
corpus petition falls short of making a “substantial showing of the denial of atatostl

right.” Slack v. McDaniel529 U.S. 473, 483-484, 120 S.Ct. 1595, 1603-1604, 146 L.Ed.2d 542,

554 (2000)Thus, a certificate of appealability is denied.
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VIl.  CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, petitioner Jerome Marshall's Petition foit @\f#abeas
Corpus Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2284rantedby agreemenin part, and denied in part.

Specifically, | grant petitioner relief from his death sentences based upon respondent’s
agreement to a conditional grant of petitioner’s writ of habeas corpus with respeeideath
sentences imposed for the murders of Myndie McCoy and Karima Saunders. Petitioatr
sentences for those murders are vacaesd result Claims I, 11, IXXII, XIV -XXII, XV and
XXIX are dismissedaismoot. Those claims all relate to the death sentences themselves or the
circumstances surrounding the jury imposing the death sestence

The Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus is denied in all other respects without an
evidentiary hearing.

| direct that this case be remanded to the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County
for resentencing consistent with respondents’ concession that they will nohseldath penalty

upon resentencing.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Joseph F. Leeson, Jr.
JOSEPH F. LEESON, JR.
United States District Judge
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